crrom | at o \mmmn\\mnm\\\)\\\\\\\w\\x\\\»\n\m

1086|  THOMSON > 070798

= IFINANCIAL




In Memoriam

¥

Bernard Seltzer
Founder and Chairman Emeritus of Hi-Tech Pharmaocal Co., Inc.
February 10, 1924 — May 21, 2007

Bernard Selrzer, Founder of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., passed away this
spring, on May 21, 2007 af the age of 83. All of us ar Hi-Tech are profoundly sad-
dened by his passing as he was o leader, a menior, a colleogue and a friend for
many years. Bemie, respecred and admired in the industry, was known for his
inrelligence, honesty and devorion o the Company.

Bermie was inroduced o rthe phamaceurical industry ar the age of 23 by
his father, Reuben Selizer, who founded Success Cherical Company, a generic
phormoceutical manufacrurer locared in Brooklyn, New Yorls in the late 19407%.
Bernie rook over the company, and in 1967 ne sold Success o Ketchum and Co.,
rhe third largesr drug wholesaler ar thar rime, where he served as Vice President
of Sales. In 1982, when Keichum divesred itself of irs pharmoceurical manufac-
ruring business, Bemie was part of a group who purchased the liguid monufac-
ruring poriion of the business from Kerchum and established Hi-Tech Pharmacatl.
Bernie was a devoree of the ideo thar pharmaceuricals should be available ro
rhe public af lower prices. His vision ro confinue fo bring a grearer number of such
producrs to more people was raking shape when Hi-Tech Pharmacal became a
publicly rraded company in 1992,

From 1992 1o 1998, Bermie served as President and CEQ of Hi-Tech
Pharmacal, from 1998 to 2005 as Chairman of the Beard of Direcrors, and
subsequently served the Compony as Chairman Emerirus until his death.

Bernie’s legacy in the pharmaceutical indusiry is only surpassed by the legacy
he leaves as a loving husband, farher and grandfarher. We all will miss him.

i




HI.TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC

Develop, manufacture and disiribute high quelity liquid, sterile and sermi-solid
generic pharmaceuricals ar rhe most economical cosr fo the consumer,

Help people wirh diaberes live healrhier lives by providing pharmaceuricol
and nurritional products especially formulared ro meer rheir needs.

To mainrain rhe highesr erhical srandards while providing increased revenues,
profirs and shareholcer value.

Dear Shareholders:

In fiscal 2007, we established the Company on solid footing which will lead to visible growth in the next
few years. Our progress was most notable in our pipeline of new generics.

iscal 2007 was a ransition year for Hi-Tech Phar-

macal. As a Company, we experienced borh grear

challenges and grear progress. The challenges
emerged from an increasingly compeiitive environment
for generic prescriprion producrs. Atthough fiscal 2007
was a difficulr year for our Cormnpany, we fully expecr thar
oUr sitong commitment o invesiment in rhe business will
lead 1o grearer sales and profir end resulr in increased
shareholder value.

In light of the chollenging environmenr in the generic
indusrry, we have evaluared our sfraregic plon ang are
confidenr thar our approach will succeed in growing the
Company. We have embarked on a straregy 1o position
ourselves os a leading markerer of liquid and semi-sclid
producrs. lmplemenrarion of our sireregy srarred by es-
tablishing a sirong presence for the Hi-Tech label in all
customer segmenrs including rerail, wholesale, instiru-
rional and mail order. Wirh our marker presence esrab-
lished, we began investing significantly in our producr
development pregram, leading to a sireng ond diverse
pipeline of products. As rhe pipeline grew organically,
we supplemented our inrernal effors with oursourced
developmenr of niche iterns, as well as generic producrs
rhar require parenr challenges. Combining a strong foun-
darion in the marlser with our robust pipeline, we expeacr
1 reap rhe full benefir of our sirareqic approach as we
move forward. We anvicipare the addition of four 1o six
new producis annually 1o our line 1o suppor subsianrial
incregses in sales ond profirs.

In fiscal 2007, we established the Cormpany on solid foor-
ing which will lead 1o visidle growth in the nexr few
years. Our progress was most norable in our pipeline of
new generics. Currently, Hi-Tech has irs mosr robusr
pipeline in the Company’s 26-year history with 13 prod-
ucts af the FDA with branded and generic sales of ap-
proximarely $1.6 billion, and en addirional 20 producrs ar
various srages of development wirh bronded sales of ap-
proximarely $2.0 billion, according to M5 Healh. The
strengih of our pipeline is the resulr of an unprecedented
commirment 1o Research and Development. We believe
rhar cur invesiment in RGD in fiscal 2007 has established
Hi-Tech as o Company thar is poised for growth, borh in
the near and long rerm.

STRATEGIC FOCUS—GENERIC PRESCRIFTION

Hi-Tech Pharmaocal has esicblished a leadership position
in manufacruring and disrriburion of generic prescriprion
liquid and semi-solid dosage forms. These dosage forms
will vield a $4 billion branded sales opportunity over the
nexr five years. We expect 1o leverage our developmeni
and manufacturing expertise ro successfully compere in
many of the producis thar will become awailable gener
ically during rhis rime. Our straregy ro focus on high bar-
rier (o entry projecrs is direcied roward higher margin
products wirth fewer comperirors. The Company plans 1o
continue 1o build on cur experience with Paragraph v
parenr chalienges such as Trusopr® and Cosopr® oph-
thalmic soluttons, 10 aggressively bur prudently pursue
addirional parent challenge opporruniries.




Diober Derm®

Advanced diabenc foor care formula for diabencs contans
L-Argining, which helps ra imorove micro-circularion in e
gan New Heel & Toe formula s specially formulared 1o
socthe and smooth rough, croacked skn end gently soffen
rhick calluses.

A norable evenr was rhe scle of the Naprelon® brand
ro Vicrory Pharma, Inc. in Agril 2007. Since 2004, when
Hi-Tech purchased Naprelan® for $3 miltion, the product
hos required promaoricnal efforrs ourside rhe scope of
Hi-Tech's interna! capabiliries, such as physician derailing
and prescription brand marlseting. Therefare, we seized
the cpporruniry ro divest our interest in Naprelan® for
approximaiely $6 million, appraximarely rwice rhe price
the Company paid 1o buy righrs 1o the brand.

In May 2007 Hi-Tech serrled all lirigarion wirh MedPoinre
Pharmaceuricals, As part of the seitlement, the Company

siopped selling Tonnare 12 D5, made o cash paymenr ro
MedPoinre and received righrs 70 rwo oiic products,
which will be brought to marker under the Hi-Tech label
in fiscal 2008.

Diaberic Tussin®

Research & Development

Hi-Tech Pharmacal invested more than $4.7 million in RGD for the
fiscal year, an increase of 8% compared to fiscal 2006.

STRATEGIC FOCUS—BRANDED OTC

We are very pleased with the performance of Healrh
Care Producrs (HCP), our cverthe-counter bronded
producrs division. Sales for the division grew in fiscal
2007 from $9.8 million re $10.8 million, an increase of
11% compared ro the prior fiscal year, Growrh was pri-
marily driven by increased sales of the Dicbetic Tussin®
line of cough medications, despire a relarively mild
cough/cold season. Sales of Diabetic Tussin®, the num:-
ber one mosr recommended sugar-free cough med-
icarion, grew by 15%, fiscal yecroveryear. HCP
successfully launched five new branded producrs info the
markert in fiscal 2007, furthering our Company’s pres-
ence in the fronr-end of the phormacy and sirengrh-
ening our position in the OTC diaberes managemenr
caregory. We have effecrively received acceprance of

Zosinx®
Sales of our Zostrix® brand producrs grew by
over 25% in fiscal 2007

#1 seling and #1 pharmocist recormenended sugar free
forrmula rhar 1s safe for people with diaberes and for
people on sugar andfor sodivmrestricted diers.




our product line by pharmacisrs, diaberic educarors ond
people wirh diaberes. Building on the equiiy in the
Digbetic Tussin® brand nome, we successfully ex-
rended our preduct line inio children’s formulas, and
more recently inro the growing mucus relief caregory.

In addirion ro our success with dicberes relared producrs,
HCP increased soles of the Zosirix® arthritis rearment ling
by 25% in fiscal 2007. This was achieved by a combi-
narion of increased distribution of Zostrix® products and
expanded sales 1o existing cusromers through an adver
rising and promaoricn campaign thar included prinr and
rodio ads. Given cur praven ability 16 grow marure prod-
ucrs like Zosiix®, we will conrinue 10 seels the right op-
portuniries 1o acquire brands that creare a goed fit with
our exisring OTC line. We have builr a repuration os @
sirong marlkerer and value driver through niche bronds
and esrablished a rack record of successfully launching
new irems.

INVESTMENT IN RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

As exrernal facrors such os customer consolidarion and
comperirive landscape conrinue 1o change, ihe one con-
stanr in the generic business is the need for more new
producrs 1o drive growth. Wirh this undersianding, Hi-Tech

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

We have effectively réceived acceptance of our
product line by pharmacists, diabetic educators
and people with diabetes.

Pharmacal made a significant financial commirment o
our Research and Development program in fiscal 2007.
Hi-Tech Pharmacal invesied more than $4.7 million in
RGD for the fiscal year, an increase of 8% cormpared ro
fiscal 2006. Areas of investment include high-speed an-
alyrical equipment, addificnal laborarory space and,
mosi imporrantly, experenced people. Our RGD expan-
sion enables us ro accelerare the developrmeni of prod-
ucis in various dosage forms including oral liquids, ropical
solufions, creams, eintments, gels, and nasal sprays, as
well as srerile producrs.

INVESTMENT IN OPERATIONS

In fiscal 2007, Hi-Tech Pharmacal invesred in infrasrrucrure
and management ro ensure thar we achieve a high sran-
dard of quclity, while mainraining @ competirive cosr siruc-
rure. In April 2006, we further expanded our focilifies by
adding o sixth building 1o ocur manufacturing campus in
Amiryville with the purchase of a 35,000 square foor build-
ing. This building will be used 10 cccommodare our need
for cadiricnal laborarory, warehouse and office space. In
fiscal 2007, the Company also complered rthe construction
of a 2,000 square foor addition 10 our 369 Bayview ad-
dress. Our investment in the manufacruring faciliries will
lead to greater efficiency and decreased costs. Wiih these
addirions, we believe we have ample capaciry 1o supporr
increasing dermand for new and existing generic progucts.




In Ocrober 20006, Eyal Mares joined rhe Company Qs
Vice Presidenr, Operatiens. Eyal came ro Hi-Tech

Pharmacal from Perrigo Pharmaceuricals, where he
served most recently as Vice Presidenr of Operarions
for Perrigo’s New Yorlk facility. During his 12 year coreer
wirh Perrigo Pharmaceuricals and the predecessor
company, Clay Parls Labs, Eyal gained extensive expe-
rience manufaciuring nearly all the dosage forms rhar
Hi-Tech currently procuces.

MARKET PRESENCE

In fiscal 2007, Hi-Tech solidified our position in the marser
as o leader in liquid and semi-solid generics. For the cal-
endar 2006, 70% of rhe Compony's producrs were
ranked eirher first or second in marker share. We artribure
this performance o our abiliny ro infroduce new producrs
in a rimely manner, and our consisrent supply of producrs
0 our customers. We are proud thai we were able o in-
crease our marker share for 21 of our producrs from mid-
2005 1o the end of 2006. Wirhin six ro eighr monihs,
upon expirarion of relarive parents and pericds of mar
keting exclusivity, we expecr 1o innoduce several drugs
thai are already ientarively approved for markering:
Ciclopirox ropical solurion 8%, Calciporriene scalp solurion
0.005%. and Ofloxacin otic solution 0.3%. Looking infe
the future, we are oprimistic abour our prospects for con-
rinued growth, os rhese producrs gain marler share and
as we launch new irems from our pipeline.

In fiscal 2007, Hi-Tech solidified our position in the
market as a leader in liquid and semi-solid
generics. For the calendar 2006, 70% of the
Company’s products were ranked either first or
second in market share.

CLOSING THOUGHTS

In conclusion, | want re thank our employees for their
hord worls and preducriviry and our cusromers and
shareholders for their confidence in our Company.

Cn a personal nore, fiscal 2007 was a year of grear 10ss
for the Hi-Tech family. In September, we saw the passing
of our long-time head of Operarions, Elan BarGioro. In
May 2007, my farher, the Chairmon Emerirus of
Hi-Tech Pharmaocal and the founder of the Company, who
for over 25 years led the Company with his vision and
straregic focus, Bernard Selizer, passed away ar the
age of 83. Both men made an indelible mark on
Hi-Tech Pharmacal. As we move forword as a Company,
we plan 1o carry our the visien of our Founder,
Bernard Selrzer...to be o leader in the manufacrure
of generic pharmaceuricals.

Sincerely,

Gl L5

David S. Selizer
President and Chief Execurive Officer
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Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are not promises or guarantees and investors are cautioned that all forward

looking statements involve risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to the impact of competitive products and

pricing, product demand and market acceptance, new product development, the regulatory environment, including without
limitation, reliance on key strategic alliances, availability of raw materials, fluctuations in operating results and other risks

detailed from time to time in the Company’s filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These statements are
based on management’s current expectations and are naturally subject to uncertainty and changes in circumstances. We

caution you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date made. Hi-
Tech is under no obligation to, and expressly disclaims any such obligation to, update or alter its forward-looking statemens,

whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.




PARTI1
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

General
LE Y

Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (“Hi-Tech” or the “Company”, which may be referred to as “we”, “us” or “our™), a Delaware
corporation, incorporated in April 1982, is a growing specialty manufacturer and marketer of prescription, over-the-counter
and nutritional products.

We develop, manufacture and market products in three categories — generics, over the counter (OTC) brands and prescription
brands. We produce a wide range of products for various disease states, including asthma, bronchial disorders,
dermatological disorders, allergies, pain, stomach, oral care, neurclogical disorders and other conditions.

Most of our generic products are prescription items and include oral solutions and suspensions, as weil as topical creams and
ointments. We also specialize in the manufacture of products in our state of the art sterile facility capable of producing liquid
ophthalmic, otic and inhalation products. This category includes a small amount of contract manufacturing sales for both the
prescription and OTC markets.

Our prescription brands include Naprelan®, acquired in fiscal 2005 and divested in fiscal 2007, and Tanafed” DMX, acquired
in fiscal 2006.

Our Health Care Products Divigion markets a Ilne of OTC branded produclg primarily for pgople with diabetes, including
Diabetic Tussinm, DiabetiDerm ', DiabetiSweet , DiabetiTrim", Multi-betic" and the Zostrix" brand of capsaisin products for
pain and arthritis.

Our customers include chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal
government agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers, and mail-order pharmacies. Some of our key customers
include Cardinal Health, Inc., McKesson Corporation, AmenSourceBergen Corperation, CVS, Wal-Mart and Walgreens.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007 sales of generic pharmaceuticals represented 78% of total sales, sales of the Health
Care Products line of OTC products accounted for 18% of total sales, and sales of branded prescription products represented
4% of total sales.

Website Access to Filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission

Additional information about the Company is available on our website at www.hitechpharm.com. All of our electronic filings
with the SEC including Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and
any amendmenits to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
are available on our website free of charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with and
furnished to the SEC, Our SEC filings are also available through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Information contained
on our website is not incorporated by reference in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and shall not be deemed “filed™ under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934,

Generic Products
Our top 5 selling generic products in fiscal 2007 were:
*  Sulfamethoxazole & Trimethoprim (the generic equivalent of Bactrim" from Roche)

*  Promethazine products including Plain, Codeine and Dextromethorphan varieties (the generic equivalent of
Phenergan‘ products from Wyeth)

»  Pediatric multivitamins (the generic equivalent of various brands)

+  Urea 40% Cream, Lotion and gel (the generic equivalent of Carmol 40" from Bradley and Vanamide™ from
Dermik)

+  Clorhexadine Gluconate (the generic equivalent of Periogardm from Colgate and Peridex” from Zila)

Generic Approvals and Product Launches

We have 31 prescription products approved for marketing by the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™) and 4 products
with tentative approvals. In addition, we have 13 products submitted to the FDA and pending approval, and approximately 20
products in various stages of development. We received tentative Abbreviated New Drug Application (“*ANDA™) approval
for the following products in fiscal 2007:

«  Calcipotriene topical solution 0.005% (the generic equivalent of Warner Chilcott’s Dovonex” topical solution,
indicated for the treatment of psoriasts of the scalp)

»  Ciclopirox topical solution, 8% (the generic equivalent of Dermik Laboratories’ Penlac” topical solution,
indicated for the treatment of nail fungus)




In our fiscal 2007, we launched the following products:
+  Urealac Qintment and Urealac Nail Sticks (the generic equivalent of Keralac™ products from Bradley)
»  Salicylic Acid 6% cream and lotion

+  CP DEC Syrup, Syrup DM, Oral Drops and Oral Drops DM (the generic equivalent of Sciele’s Rondec'm)

Health Care Products Division

Our Health Care Products Division (“HCP”) is a leading marketer of branded products that include over-the-counter,
nutritional lines, and prescription products, primarily for people with diabetes. The Health Care Products Division is
composed of six products lines which account for all of its sales.

These product lines, in order of sales, are:
+  Diabetic Tussin cough products
«  Zostrix" pain relief products
+  DiabetiDerm” dermatological products
+  Multibetic® multi-vitamins
+  DiabetiSweet® sugar substitutes
+  DiabetiTrim" weight management products

The Diabetic Tussin” line accounted for more than half of Health Care Products sales.

HCP launched the following products this year:
«  Diabetic Tussin® Children’s cough syrup
+  Diabetic Tussin” Children’s allergy syrup
«  Diabetic Tussin® Children’s night time cough syrup
+  Diabetic Tussin® EX 400 tablets
+  DiabetiDerm" Professional Strength Foot Cream

Branded Prescription Products

Hi-Tech sells two branded prescription products, Naprelan” and Tanafed” DMX. We acquired Naprelan®, which is sold in
both 375mg and 500 mg strengths, from Elan Pharmaceuticals in June 2004. We sold the 500mg strength and had a
marketing arrangement with Blansett Pharmacal to sell the 375mg strength. On January 3, 2007, Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.
announced that it entered into an agreement with Victory Pharma, Inc. to market and distribute Naprelan®. The agreement
gave Vic_taory the option of buying the rights to Naprelan . Effective April 30, 2007, the Company sold its tights to the
Naprelan® brand to Victory. Hi-Tech co-owned the product with Stat-Trade, Inc. Hi-Tech will receive approximately $6.2
million from the sale of Naprelanﬁ and recognized a $1.8 million gain on the sale in the fiscal fourth quarter. Hi-Tech
acquired Tanafed” DMX from First Horizon in December 2005.

Growth Strategy

Management believes that growth in the generic pharmaceutical industry is driven by several factors which should continue
in the coming years. These factors include:

+  The increasing number of branded pharmaceutical products that have lost or will lose patent protection

«  Efforts by federal and state governments, employers, third-party payors and consumets to control health care
costs

= The aging of the U.S. population
« Increased acceptance of generic products by physicians, pharmacists and consumers

Management hopes to exploit these macroeconomic trends by making strategic decisions which will result in the Company’s
growth. Our growth strategy is based on the following:

«  Increase the number of new product introductions by expanding our research and development efforts and
increasing our ANDA submissions



»  Increase market share for our core prescription generic preducts by adding new customers and introducing
products to existing customers

»  Continue to develop and license branded preducts with a focus on niche markets, such as diabetes care and
related areas, such as podiatry

»  Acquire products and businesses that management believes can contribute to the Company’s growth strategy

»  Leverage our manufacturing capabilities primarily focusing on the development of liquid and semi-solid desage
forms and products requiring sterile manufacturing

Product Development Strategy

We have identified over $9 billion of brand name drugs in the liquid, sterile, inhalation, nasal spray and semi-solid dosage
forms in our target market. These products either have patents which expire in the next five years or have patents which the
Company believes that it can successfully challenge. We are currently developing drugs with total branded sales of over $2
billion and plan to take advantage of this opportunity.

QOur product development strategy focuses on products in the following areas:
+  Products that will have limited competition due to smaller market size but can generate long term revenues
»  Products with significant volume and high annual sales

»  Products that are difficult to bring to market and more likely to face limited competition, enabling us to earn
higher margins for a longer period of time. These opportunities include nasal sprays and sterile products,
including ophthaimics and inhalation products

»  Products with patents that we believe we can successfully challenge through the patent challenge process of the
Hatch-Waxman Act

Research and Development

The Company obtains new generic pharmaceutical products primarily through internal product development and from
sirategic arrangements with other pharmaceutical companies. These strategic arrangements include both development
contracts where Hi-Tech pays a third party to develop a new product and licensing arrangements where Hi-Tech sells a
product and pays a royalty to the owner of the ANDA or NDA.

For the fiscal years ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, total R&D expenditures were $4,733,000 and $3,334,000, respectively.
The increase is the result of expenditures on both internal and external development projects.

We have 13 ANDA applications pending at the FDA that address over $1.5 billion in annual brand and generic product sales
in the United States in 2005 according to IMS Health. The Company does not know when any of these products will be
approved.

Customers and Marketing

We market our products to chain drug stores, drug wholesalers, managed care purchasing organizations, certain Federal
governmeni agencies, generic distributors, mass merchandisers and mail order pharmacies. We sell our generic products to
over 100 active accounts located throughout the United States. For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, Cardinal Health and
McKesson Corporation accounted for net sales of approximately 15% and 10%, respectively. These customers represented
approximately 44% of the outstanding accounts receivable at April 30, 2007. Our top five customers accounted for
approximatcly 47% and 55% of the Company’s total sales for the fiscal years ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. If
any of our top five customers discontinues or substantially reduces its purchases from the Company, it may have a material
adverse effect on our business and financial condition. We believe, however, that we have good relationships with our
customers.

We utilize our state of the art manufacturing facilities and laboratories to offer contract manufacturing services to our existing
as well as potential customers.

We market HCP brands using various marketing strategies which include professional and consumer sampling programs,
telemarketing, blast fax programs, coupon promotions, contemporary packaging, print media, national radio, direct response
advertising and in store promotions. We also have placed a significant emphasis on the use of the internet as a vehicle to




promote our brands and emphasize our Company’s goal of helping people with diabetes live a healthier life. We view the
internet as an effective vehicle to educate people with diabetes about making good decisions in helping manage their
condition. Qur websites are registered under the domain names of diabeticproducts.com and Zostrix.com, which are linked to
most search engines and diabetic based websites.

Healih Care Products currently employs 10 full time employees in sales and marketing and 12 independent commission sales
representative organizations.

We are focused on growth and will continue to develop new branded and generic products as well as devise new marketing
strategies to penetrate our markets, [n order to maximize our future growth and shareholder vatue, we are seeking to
complement this internal effort by acquiring products for future marketing, as well as licensing rights to proprietary products
and technologies for development and commercialization. We will place increasing emphasis on establishing co-development
and co-marketing agreements with strategic partners.

Manufacturing

Our manufacturing facilities are designed to be flexible in order to allow for the low cost production of a variety of products
of different dosages, sizes, packaging and quantities while maintaining a high level of quality and customer service. This
flexible production capability allows us to adjust on-line production in order to meet customer requirements. We are currently
developing plans to reconfigure our Bayview facility to improve efficiency.

Facilities

We operate from six buildings owned by the Company on one site in Amityville, New York, totaling approximately 197,000
square feet. This includes a 35,000 square foot facility the Company purchased in April 2006 which is only partially utilized
at this time due to current renovations of the production space. The Company completed construction of a 2,000 square foot

addition to our 369 Bayview building to house our growing operations and quality staff.

Raw Materiats/Active Pharmaceutical Ingredients

The active compounds for our products, also called active pharmaceutical ingredients or APIs, are purchased from
specialized manufacturers and are essential to our business and success. API manufacturers are required to file a Drug Master
File with the FDA. Each individual APl must be approved by the FDA as part of the ANDA approval process. AP]
manufacturers are also regularly inspected by the FDA,

In some cases, the raw materials used to manufacture pharmaceutical products are only available from a single FDA-
approved supplier. Even when more than one supplier exists, the Company may elect to list, and in most cases has only
listed, one supplier in its applications with the FDA. Any change in a supplier not previously approved must then be
submitted through a formal approval process with the FDA.

It is crucial for the business to select suppliers that meet Current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) requirements and
that are reliable and offer competitive prices. We are proactive in maintaining good relationships with our API suppliers
because we believe that these relationships allow us to save crucial time and be cost competitive. For new products in
development, the timely selection of the right AP suppliers who have access to cutting-edge chemical and process
technologies, and in some cases offer proprietary and patented methods for chemical synthesis and manufacturing processes,
can potentially give us a significant advantage over our competitors.

We believe we have good, cooperative working relationships with our suppliers and are not experiencing any difficulty in
obtaining raw materials. If a supplier were unable to supply us, we believe we could locate an alternative supplier. However,
any change in suppliers of a raw material could cause significant delays and cost increases in the manufacture of products.

Competition

The market for generic pharmaceuticals is highly competitive. Our direct competition consists of numerous generic drug
manufacturers, many of which have greater financial and other resources than we do. If one or more other generic
pharmaceutical manufacturers significantly reduce their prices in an effort to gain market share, our profitability or market
position could be adversely affected. Such competitive pressures caused our decline in sales and profitability this year.
Competition is based principally on price, quality of products, customer service levels, reputation and marketing support.




Seasonality

We experience seasonal variations in the demand for our cough and cold products. Therefore, no one quarter’s performance
can be used 1o indicate a full year results. Qur revenues are typically lower during the first and fourth quarters of our fiscal
year. We expect this seasonality to continue in the future.

Government Regulation
FDA Oversight

Our products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and state governmental agencies. The FDA, in
particular, maintains oversight of our manufacturing process as well as the distribution of our products. Facilities, procedures,
operations and/or testing of products are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA, the Drug Enforcement Administration
and other authorities. In addition, the FDA cenducts pre-approval and post-approval reviews and plant inspections to
determine whether our systems and processes are in compliance with cGMP and other FDA regulaticns. Certain of our
suppliers are subject to similar regulations and periodic inspections. We have had several FDA inspections including our
most recent which took place in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. We believe the issues cited during the inspection have been
adequately addressed by the Company.

A sponsor of a New Drug Application ("NDA™) is required to identify in its application any patent that claims the drug or a
use of the drug, which is the subject of the application. Upon NDA approval, the FDA lists the approved drug product and
these patents in the Orange Book.

In addition to patent exclusivity, the holder of the NDA for the listed drug may be entitled to a period of non-patent, market
exclusivity, during which the FDA cannot approve an application for a bioequivalent product. If the listed drug is a new
chemical entity, the FDA may not accept an ANDA for a bioequivalent product for up to five years following approval of the
NDA for the new chemical entity. If it is not a new chemical entity but the holder of the NDA conducted clinical trials
essential to approval of the NDA or a supplement thereto, the FDA may not approve an ANDA for a bicequivalent product
before expiration of three years. Certain other periods of exclusivity may be available if the listed drug is indicated for
treatment of a rare disease or is studied for pediatric indications.

The FDA has extensive enforcement powers, including the power to seize noncomplying products, to seek court action to
prohibit their sale and to seek criminal penalties for noncomplying manufacturers. Although it has no statutory power to force
the recall of preducts, the FDA usually accomplishes a recall as a result of the threat of judicially imposed seizure, injunction
and/or criminal penalties.

ANDA Process

Although many of the products we currently manufacture and market do not require prior specific approval of the FDA,
certain products which we currently market and intend to market under our product development program require prior FDA
approval using the ANDA procedure prior to being marketed. We currently have 31 approved products, 4 tentatively
approved products, 13 products pending FDA approval, and 20 products in active development, of which the majority will
require ANDA submissions.

The ANDA approval process is generally less time-consuming and complex than the NDA approval process. It generally
does not require new preclincal and clinical studies because it relies on the studies establishing safety and efticacy conducted
for the drug previously approved through the NDA process. The ANDA process does, however, occasionally, require one or
more bioequivalency studies to show that the ANDA drug is bioequivalent to the previously approved drug. Bioequivalence
compares the bioavailability of one drug product with that of referenced brand formulation containing the same active
ingredient. When established, bioequivalency confirms that the rate of absorption and levels of concentration in the
bloodstream of a formulation of the previously approved drug and the generic drug are equivalent. Bioavailability indicates
the rate and extent of absorption and levels of concentration of a drug product in the bloodstream needed to produce the same
therapeutic effect. Such studies are not generally required to be performed for solutions (oral, ophthalmic, or solutions for
inhalation). Suspensions and certain types of topical products do require bioequivalency testing. Topical creams and
ointments require clinical testing. Fluticasome proprionate required a large and expensive clinical trial. In certain cases, such
as nasal spray suspensions, clinical studies are required in addition to bioequivalency studies to show efficacy compared to
the branded product. Such studies, though not as extensive as corresponding studies conducted by innovator companies as
part of their NDA process, could require substantial funding.

The completion of a prospective product’s formulation, testing and FDA approval generally takes several years.
Development activities could begin several years in advance of the patent expiration date, and may include bioequivalency
and clinical studies. Consequently, we are presently selecting and will continue to select and develop drugs we expect to
market several years in the future.




The timing of final FDA approval of ANDA applications depends on a variety of factors, including whether the applicant
challenges any listed patents for the drug and/or its use and whether the brand-name manufacturer is entitled to one or more
statutory exclusivity periods. Pending the resolution of any such issues the FDA is prohibited from granting final approval 1o
generic products. In certain circumstances, a regulatory exclusivity period can extend beyond the life of a patent, and thus
block ANDAs from being approved on the patent expiration date. For example, the FDA may now extend the exclusivity of a
product by six months past the date of patent expiry if the manufacturer undertakes studies on the effect of their product in
children (“pediatric extension”), See “Patent Challenge Process.”

Before approving a product, the FDA also requires that a company’s procedures and operations conform to cGMP
regulations, as defined in the U.S. Code of Federal Regulations. The Company must follow the cGMP regulations at all times
during the manufacture of its products.

If the FDA concludes that all substantive ANDA requirements (chemistry, bioequivalency, labeling and manufacturing) have
been satisfied, but a final ANDA approval cannot be granted because of patent or exclusivity-related considerations, the FDA
may issue a tentative approval.

Patent Challenge Process

The Hatch-Waxman Act provides incentives for generic pharmaceutical manufacturers to challenge patents on branded
pharmaceutical products, their methods of use and specific formulations, as well as to develop non-infringing forms of the
patented subject matter. The purpose of the Hatch-Waxman Act is to stimulate competition by providing incentives to generic
companies to introduce their products early, and at the same time to ensure that such suits are not frivolous.

If there is a patent listed in the FDA’s Orange Book at the time of filing an ANDA with the FDA and the generic drug
company intends to market the generic equivalent prior to the expiration of that patent, the generic company files with its
ANDA a certification asserting that the patent is invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed (*Paragraph IV certification™).
After receiving notice from the FDA that its application is acceptable for filing, the generic company sends the patent holder
and the holder of the New Drug Application {“NDA™) for the brand-name drug a notice explaining why it believes that the
patents in question are invalid, unenforceable or not infringed. Upon receipt of the notice from the generic company, the
patent holder has 45 days during which to bring a patent infringement suit in federal district court against the generic
company. The discovery, trial and appeals process in such suits can take several years and have high legal costs.

If a suit is commenced by the patent holder, the Hatch-Waxman Act provides for an automatic stay on the FDA’s abitity to
grant final approval of the ANDA for the generic product. The period during which the FDA may not approve the ANDA and
the patent challenger therefore may not market the generic product is 30 months, or such shorter or longer period as may be
ordered by the court. The 30-month period may or may not, and often does not, coincide with the timing of the resolution of
the lawsuit or the expiration of a patent, but if the patent challenge is successful or the challenged patent expires during the
30-month period, the FDA may approve the generic drug for marketing, assuming there are no other obstacles to approval
such as exclusivities given to the NDA holder.

Under the Hatch-Waxman Act, the developer of a proposed generic drug which is the first to have its ANDA accepted for
filing by the FDA, and whose filing includes a Paragraph IV certification, may be eligible to receive a 180-day period of
generic market exclusivity. This period of market exclusivity may provide the patent challenger with the opportunity to earn
a return on the risks taken and its legal and development costs and to build its market share before competitors can enter the
market.

Medicaid and Medicare

Medicaid, Medicare and other reimbursement legislation or programs govern reimbursement levels and require all
pharmaceutical manufacturers to rebate a percentage of their revenues arising from Medicaid-reimbursed drug sales to
individual states. The required rebate is currently 11% of the average manufacturer’s price for sales of Medicaid-reimbursed
products marketed under ANDAs. We believe that Federal or state povernments may continue to enact measures aimed at
reducing the cost of drugs to the public, For example, Congress passed the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and
Modernization Act of 2003, which provides a comprehensive pharmacy benefit for Medicare recipients,

DEA
Because the Company sells and develops products containing controlled substances, it must meet the requirements and
regulations of the Controlled Substances Act which are administered by the Drug Enforcement Agency (“DEA”). These



regulations include stringent requirements for manufacturing controls and security to prevent diversion of or unauthorized
access to the drugs in each stage of the production and distribution process. We have the approval of the DEA to sell certain
generic pharmaceutical products containing narcotics. We are currently manufacturing 8 preparations containing narcotics
and are developing other products that contain narcotics. In order to manufacture and sell products containing narcotics, we
have implemented stringent security precautions to insure that the narcotics are accounted for and properly stored. We
believe that the Company is currently in compliance with all applicable DEA requirements.

Environment

We believe that our operations comply in all material respects with applicable laws and regulations concerning the
environment. While it is impossible to predict accurately the future costs associated with environmental compliance and
potential remediation activities, compliance with environmental laws is not expected to require significant capital
expenditures and has not had, and is not expected to have, a material adverse effect on our earnings or competitive position.

Product Liability

The sale of pharmaceutical products can expose the manufacturer of such products to product liability claims by consumers.
A product liability claim, if successful and in excess of our insurance coverage, could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition. We maintain product liability insurance policies which provide coverage in the amount $10,000,000 per
claim and in the aggregate.

Employees

As of April 30, 2007, we employed 247 full-time persons and 15 part-time persons, of whom 32 were engaged in executive,
financial and administrative capacities; 20 in marketing, sales and service; 126 full-time employees and 15 part-time
employees in production warehousing and distribution; and 69 in research and development and quality control functions.
We are not a party to a collective bargaining agreement. The management of the Company considers its relations with its
employees to be satisfactory:

Available Information

The Company maintains a website at http://www.hitechpharm.com. We make available on the website, free of charge, annual
reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and atl amendments to those reports, as
soon as is reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We
are not including the information contained on or available through our website as a part of, or incorporating such
information into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 1A, Risk Factors

The following risk factors could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position or results of
operations. These risk factors may not include all of the important factors that could affect our business or our industry or that
could cause our future financial results to differ materially from historic or expected results or cause the market price of our
common stock to fluctuate or decline.

Delays in New Product Intreductions

Our future revenue growth and profitability are dependent upon our ability to develop and introduce new products on a
timely basis in relation to our competitors’ product introductions. Our failure to do so successfully could have a material
adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Many products require FDA approval prior to being marketed. The process of obtaining FDA approval to manufacture and
market new and generic pharmaceutical products is rigorous, time-consuming, costly and largely unpredictable. We may be
unable to obtain requisite FDA approvals on a timely basis for new generic products that we may develop. The timing and
cost of obtaining FDA approvals could adversely affect our product introduction plans, financial position and results of
operations.

The ANDA process often results in the FDA granting final approval to a number of ANDAs for a given product. We may
face immediate competition when we introduce a generic product into the market. These circumstances could result in
significantly lower prices, as well as reduced margins, for generic products compared to brand products. New generic market
entrants generally cause continued price and margin erosion over the generic product life cycle.
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Approved Products May Not Achieve Expected Levels of Market Acceptance

Our approved products may not achieve expected levels of market acceptance, which could have a material adverse effect on our
profitability, financial position and results of operations. Even if we were able to obtain regulatory approvals of our new pharmaceutical
products, generic or brand, the success of those products is dependent upon market acceptance. Levels of market acceptance for new
products could be impacted by several factors, including:

«  the availability of alternative products from our competitors

= the price of our products relative to that of our competitors

*  the availability of authorized generics

+  the timing of our market entry

*  the ability of our customers to market our products effectively to the retail level
*  the acceptance of our products by government and private formularies

Some of these factors are not within our control.

Unapproved Products

The Company sells several products which do not have ANDAs. These products cither fall under the grandfathered or Drug Efficacy Study
Implementation (“DESI”™) classification. Grandfathered drugs are drugs that were on the market prior to the passage of the Food, Drug and
Cosmetic Act of 1938. It was not until the passage of the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act of 1938 that a New Drug Application (NDA) was
required for marketing a drug product as the regulatory mechanism for insuring that all new drugs were cleared for safety prior to
distribution, The requirement for pre-clearance for effectiveness was added by the 1962 amendment.

Following enactment of the 1938 law, drugs on the market prior to that time were exempted or “grandfathered” and manufacturers were not
required to file an NDA. The premise was that all pre-1938 drugs were considered safe, and if the manufacturer did not change the product
formulation or indication, then an NDA was not required.

DESI drugs are drugs that were approved solely on the basis of their safety prior to 1962. Thereafter, Congress required drugs to be shown
to be effective as well. The FDA initiated the DESI program to evaluate the effectiveness of those drugs that had been previousty approved
on safety grounds alone, These drugs, and those identical, related, and similar to them, may continue to be marketed until the administrative
proceedings evaluating their effectiveness have been concluded, at which point continued marketing is only permitted if an NDA is
approved for such drugs. The vast majority of the DESI proceedings have been concluded, but a few are still pending.

Continuing studies of the proper utilization, safety and efficacy of pharmaceutical products are being conducted by the industry,
government agencies and others. Such studies, which increasingly employ sophisticated methods and techniques, can call into
question the utilization, safety and cfficacy of currently marketed products. In some cases, these studies have resulted, and may in
the future result, in the discontinuance of product marketing. These situations, should they oceur, could have a material adverse
effect on our profitability, financial position and results of operations.

Industry is Highly Competitive

We face competition from other pharmaceutical manufacturers that threatens the commercial acceptance and pricing of our
products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Our competitors may be able to develop products and processes competitive with or superior to our own for many reasons,
including that they may have:

= proprictary processes or delivery systems

= larger research and development staffs

+  larger sales and marketing staffs

*  larger production capabilities

*  more products

*  more experience in developing new drugs and greater financial resources

Each of these factors and others could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Government Regulation

Because the pharmaceutical industry is heavily regulated, we face significant costs and uncertainties associated with our efforts to
comply with applicable regulations. Should we fail to comply, we could experience material adverse effects on our business,
financial position and results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is subject to regulation by various Federal and state governmental authortities. For instance, we must
comply with FDA requirements with respect to the manufacture, labeling, sale, distribution, marketing, advertising, promotion and
development of pharmaceutical products. Failure to comply with FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines,
disgorgement, unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or
distribution, suspension of FDA’s review of ANDAs, enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain
circumstances, the FDA also has the authority to revoke previously granted drug approvals. Although we have internal regulatory
compliance programs and policies and have had a favorable compliance history, there is no guarantee that we may not be deemed to
be deficient in some manner in the future, If we were deemed to be deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

10




In addition to the new drug approval process, the FDA also regulates the facilities and operational procedures that we use 1o
manufacture our products. We must register our facilities with the FDA. All products manufactured in those facilities must be
made in a manner consistent with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“¢cGMP”). Compliance with cGMP regulations
requires substantial expenditures of time, money and effort in such areas as production and quality control to ensure full
technical compliance. Failure to comply with cGMP regulations could result in an enforcement action brought by the FDA,
which periodically inspects our manufacturing facilities for compliance, which could include withholding the approval of
ANDAs or other product applications of a facility if deficiencies are found at that facility. FDA approval to manufacture a
drug is site-specific. If the FDA would cause our manufacturing facilities to cease or limit production, our business could be
adversely affected. Delay and cost in obtaining FDA approval to manufacture at a different facility also could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

We are subject, as are generally all manufacturers, to various Federal, state and local laws of general applicability, such as
laws regulating working conditions, as well as environmental protection laws and regulations, including those governing the
discharge of materials into the environment. Although we have not incurred significant costs associated with complying with
such environmental provisions in the past, if changes to such environmental provisions are made in the future that require
significant changes in our operations or if we engage in the development and manufacturing of new products requiring new
or different environmental controls, we may be required to expend significant funds. Such changes could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial position and resuits of operations.

Limited Number of Major Customers

Our top 5 customers, based on sales, accounted for 47% of our total sales for fiscal 2007. Any significant reduction of
business with any of our top S customers could have a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, financial position and results
of operations.

Third Party Suppliers

Active pharmaceutical ingredients, packaging components, and other materials and supplies that we use in our
pharmaceutical manufacturing operations, as well as certain finished products, are generally available and purchased from
many different foreign and domestic suppliers. Additionally, we maintain sufficient raw materials inventory, and in certain
cases where we have listed only one supplier in our applications with the FDA, we have received FDA approval to use
alternative suppliers should the need arise. However, there is no guarantee that we will always have timely and sufficient
access 1o a critical raw material or finished product. A prolenged interruption in the supply of a single-sourced active
ingredient or finished product could cause our financial position and results of operations to be materially adversely affected.

Limited Number of Manufacturing Facilities

Our generic products and some of our branded products are produced at our two manufacturing facilities located at one site,
A significant disruption at these facilities, even on a short-term basis, could impair our ability to produce and ship products to
the market on a timely basis, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of
operations.

Consolidation of Customers

Significant amounts of our sales are made to a relatively small number of drug wholesalers, retail drug chains, managed care
purchasing organizations, mail order pharmacies and hospitals. These customers represent an essential part of the distribution
chain of generic pharmaceutical products. These customers have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, significant
consolidation. This consolidation may result in these groups gaining additional purchasing leverage and consequently
increasing the product pricing pressures facing our business. Additionally, the emergence of large buying groups representing
independent retail pharmacies and the prevalence and influence of managed care organizations and similar institutions
potentially enable those groups to attempt to extract price discounts on our products. The result of these developments may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position and results of operations.

Indemnification Obligations

In the normal course of business, we periodically enter into employment, legal settlements, and other agreements which
incorporate indemnification provisions. We maintain insurance coverage which we believe wilt effectively mitigate our
obligations under these indemnification provisions. However, should our obligation under an indemnification provision
exceed our coverage or should coverage be denied, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position
and results of operations.
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Uncertainties of Estimates and Assumptions

There are inherent uncertainties involved in estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles penerally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP™). Any
changes in estimates, judgments and assumptions used could have a material adverse effect on our business, {inancial
posttion and results of eperations.

The financial statements included in the periodic reports we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) are
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP involves making
estimates of expenses and income. This includes, but is not limited to, estimates, judgments and assumptions used in the
adoption of the provisions of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets and SFAS
No. 123, revised 2004, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, Estimates, judgments and assumptions are inherently
subject to change in the future, and any such changes could result in corresponding changes to the amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and income. Any such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

Our executive offices and manufacturing facilities are owned by the Company and located in Amityville, New York. They
are comprised of six buildings with approximately 197,000 square feet, and include:

» A 42,000 square foot facility dedicated to liquid and semi-solid production, which includes a recently completed
2,000 square foot addition

* A 28,000 square foot facility housing a sterile manufacturing facility, DEA manufacturing, chemistry and
microbiology laboratories

+ A 62,500 square foot facility used for the warehousing of finished goods which also houses our Health Care
Products Division

* A 21,500 square foot facility with 3,500 square feet of research and development space and 18,000 square feet of
warehouse space

+  An 8,000 square foot office building which is utilized for administrative functions

* A 35,000 square foot facility acquired in April 2006 with mixed office, [aboratory and manufacturing space
which was partially renovated in FY2007

We believe that our properties are adequately covered by insurance and are suitable and adequate for our needs for several
years.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

On January 30, 2007, Michael Chittenden and Marcy L. Chittenden filed a complaint against Arnold H. Zukow, M.D. et al
and the Company, Case No. BC346212, in the Los Angeles Superior Court in the state of California, alleging wrongful death
of the defendant’s daughter as a result of her being negligently and improperly treated and prescribed the prescription drug,
Phenergan (Promethazine HCI) with Phenylepherine and codeine, which the Company does not manufacture. The
Company’s defense costs, after its deductible, are being covered under its product liability pelicy which has a $10 million
limit for defense costs and liability, The Company filed an answer to the complaint on February 28, 2007. The Company
believes it has meritorious defenses to the allegations in the Complaint.

On January 18, 2006, Merck & Co., Inc. filed complaints against the Company in the United States District Court for the
District of New Jersey, alleging infringement of Merck’s U.S. Patent No. 4,797,413, based on the Company’s submission to
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the FDA of ANDAs Nos. 77-846 and 77-847 to obtain approval for generic versions of Merck’s TRUSOPT" and COSOPT"
products, which are used for the treatment of elevated intraocular pressure in patients with ocular hypertension or open-angle
glaucoma. Merck sought a permanent injunction against the Company to prevent its manufacture and sale of its generic
version of Merck’s products until April 28, 2008, which Merck contended was the date on which its patent will expire. The
Company filed answers to the complaints on March 1, 2006, and a motion to dismiss, contending that, due 10 Merck’s filing
of a terminal disclaimer, its patent was not enforceable after December 12, 2004. Merck filed a cross-motion for judgment on
the pleadings. On April 25, 2006, the court granted Merck’s motion and entered a judgment enjoining the Company’s
commercial manufacture, use, offer to sell, or sale within the United States, or importation into the United States, of products
covered by Merck’s patent, until April 28, 2008. On May 1, 2006, the Company filed.an appeal from that judgment to the
U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On March 27, 2007 the Court ruled in favor of Merck. The Company filed a
petition for a rehearing which was denied in June 2007. Legal costs in connection the appeal are being paid for by a business
partner. The Company has no obligation to repay or otherwise issue any credit to such partner for such legal costs.

On November 24, 2003, MedPointe Healthcare, Inc. (“MedPointe”) filed a complaint against the Company in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey, alleging willful infringement by the Company of MedPointe’s United
States Patent No. 6,417,206, based on the Company’s offer to sel its Tannate 12-DS product, as a generic equivalent to
MedPointe’s Tussi-12° DS. MedPointe brought a motion for preliminary injunction against the sale of Tannate 12-DS in
November 2003. The district court granted that motion in March 2004, but the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit vacated that ruling in November 2004, finding that MedPointe had not demonstrated a likelihood of success on the
merits of its case. Following the Federal Circuit’s ruling, Hi-Tech began selling Tannate 12 DS.

The Company filed, in May 2000, a counterclaim and third-party complaint against Jame Fine Chemicals, Inc., D/B/A JFC
Technologies, Inc. and MedPointe in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey in which it has asserted
various claims, including claims of breach of contract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious
interference with current and prospective contractual relations and for violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Antitrust Act.
On May 29, 2007 the Company entered into a settlement and release agreement regarding the claims brought by MedPointe.
This agreement also resolves the various claims brought by Hi-Tech against MedPointe and Jame Fine Chemicals, Inc. Under
the terms of the settlement and release agreement, Hi-Tech immediately ceased distribution of its generic version of Tussi-
12° DS and paid MedPointe $2.5 million and MedPointe transferred to Hi-Tech its Vosol” and Vosol” HC brands, and the
related New Drug Applications. The Company allocated $700,000 to the value of the trademarks for Vosol” and Vosol” HC
brands which is included in intangible assets on the balance sheet and included $1,800,000 in other expense in the statement
of operations as a result of the settlement.

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in various legal matters in addition to the above described matters that
the Company considers to be in the ordinary course of business. While the Company is not presently able to determine the
potential liability, if any, related to such matters, the Company believes none of such matters, individually or in the
aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its financial position.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the quarter ended April 30, 2007.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

Market Information

The Company's common stock is traded on the National Market System of the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation System

("NASDAGQ") under the symbol HITK.

The following table sets forth the high and low closing sales prices per share of the Company’s common stock for the periods indicated on the NASDAGQ
National Market Systern. The quotations are inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commissions paid, and may not necessarily reflect
actual transactions.

Quarter Ended High Low
Fiscal 2006
July 31, 2005 $ 2339 § 15.76
October 31, 2005... 25.03 16.41
January 31, 2006 ... 31.63 24,52
AP 30, 2006 oot er ettt ety e 1A e b5 et EE RS E SRS E Lt e e e e ser s ennernneanaen 28.20 22.64
Fiscal 2007
July 31, 2006......... 24,63 15.71
October 3, 2006... 18.81 12.10
January 31, 2007 ... 15.52 10.78
April 30, 2007 .....ccorvmnnne 13.41 10.19

As of July 10, 2007 the closing price of the Common Stock on the Nasdag National Market System was $11.09.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Shares

The table below sets forth, as of the end of the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, for the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Employee Stock Option Plan and
Director Stock Option Plan (“Plan™) the number of securities to be issued upon the exercise of outstanding options, warrants and rights; the weighted-
average exercise price of the outstanding options warrants and rights; and the number of securities remaining for future issuance under the Plan:

Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of securities
remaining available
for future issuance

under equity
Number of securities to Weighted-average compensation plans
be issued upon excreise of exercise price of (excluding securities
outstanding options, outstanding options, reflected in column
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights (a))
(2) (b} (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by security holder...........coovviinvoiiieim .. 2,653.000 % 10.61 §52,000
Equity compensation pians not approved by security holders.............. — — —
TORL...o. vt cstrssar st et bR b b s b s e e 2653000 3 10.61 852,000

There are no Company equity compensation plans not approved by the Company’s stockholders.
UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Approximate
Dollar Value

of Shares
that May Yet

Be

Total Number of Shares Purchased

Total Number of Average Price Purchased as Part of Publicly  Under the

Period Shares Purchased per Share Announced Plans Plans {1)
02/01/07 - 02/28/07 173,000 51090 173,000  §4,312,000
03/01/07 — 03/31/07 65,000 $10.72 65,000  $3,610,000
04/01/07 — 04/30/07 [ $0 0 $3,610,000

(1) During the three months ended April 30, 2007 the Company repurchased approximately 238,000 shares of the Company's common stock for a
purchase price of $2,589,000. The Company's Board of Directors has authorized $23,000,000 to repurchase the Company’s common stock. Pursuant
to the terms of a Rute 10b5-1 stock repurchase plan, these repurchases may be made from time 1o time in the open market or in privare transactions
as market conditions dictate. As of April 30, 2007 the Company has purchased 1,997,000 shares for $19,390,000,

Common Stock Holders
The Company believes there are approximately 3,800 holders of Common Stock, not including shares held in sircet name by brokers and nominees.

Dividends

The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends, and it does not anticipate that it will pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. The
declaration of dividends by the Company in the future is subject to the sole discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon the
operating results, capital requirements and financial position of the Company, general economic conditions and other pertinent conditions or restrictions
relating to any financing. The Company’s loan agrcement prohibits the payment of cash dividends by the Company.
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The selected financial data presented below for the five years ended April 30, 2007 are derived from the audited financial
statements of the Company. This data is qualified in its entirety by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the Company’s financial
statements and related notes thereto for the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
YEAR ENDED APRIL 30, 2007 2006 25 2004 2003
Statement of operations data
INEE SALES ..veviveeeeeeee e ree e s s e b nab et enenrart e se e s ercees $ 58898000 $ 78,020,000 $ 67,683,000 § 56,366,000 5 47,446,000
Costs and expenses:
Costs of goods sold.....c.coeiciiiiiie, 35,704,000 35,833,000 31,360,000 26,207,000 23,508,000
Research and development .........cccocoiiiiiiniins 4,733,000 3,334,000 4,373,000 3,820,000 2,095,000
Selling, general and administrative..........ocooenen 23,914,000 23,210,000 19,574,000 16,758,000 13,262,000
Contract research (income) ......c.cococecrincennnenn, (123,000} (27,000) (50,000) (504,000) (216,000}
INtErESt CXPCIST ovviereiiverer et eee 13,000 12,000 24,000 24,000 32,000
Interest (income) and other.........c..cvvreeceieiennns (1,314,000) {1,937,000) {655,000) (281,000) (205,000
TOUAD ceeeeeeeeeeeeoeeeeoeeeeoeeeeeeesesrerienieee. § 62,032,000 § 60,425,000 § 54,626,000 $ 46,024,000 § 38,476,000
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes ........ (4,034,000) 17,595,000 13,057,000 10,342,000 8,970,000
Provision for iNCOME taXES . ocuicvvieeiercrerimrermenenencmnsens {1,993,000) 6,142,000 4,769,000 3,750,000 3,243,000
Net income (10SS) ..vvvrveeeeveeeereereeeeeeeemsreersnmneneee. 3 (2,036,000 § 11,453,000 § 8,288,000 § 6,592,000 $ 5,727,000
Basic earnings (10ss) per Share ........ccocoveovioieiccninns $ 0.17) § 096 § 070 §$ 056 § 0.55
Diluted eamings (10ss) per Share ..o eeincnenns $ 017 § 085 § 064 § 050 % 0.50
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic earnings (loss) per share ... 11,884,000 11,939,000 11,858,000 11,809,000 10,340,000
Effect of potential common shares..........ccoomieiinnn — 1,465,000 1,130,000 1,478,000 1,216,000
Diluted earnings (loss) per share........cccovvverivenrrenivnne 11,384,000 13,404,000 12,988,000 13,287,000 11,556,000
APRIL 30, 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Balance sheet data:
Working capital.......cooveiiiiiinicnirnes e $ 55,540,000 § 65,234,000 § 54,021,000 § 55,772,000 £ 24,085,000
| TOUAL ASSCLS . eooeoeooeeoeoeoeoeeoeooeeeresrasressenrenseereenes. 5 97.742.000 $ 100,379,000 $ 81,612,000 $ 75,552,000 % 43,828,000
Long-term debt......cccoooiiiii 0 0 0 0 0
Stockholders’ equitY ..o e $ 82,983,000 $ 88442000 $ 69,665000 $ 66,788,000 § 35,040,000
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ITEM7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS
GENERAL

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and Notes thereto
appearing elsewhere in this Report,

The following table sets forth, for all periods indicated, the percentage relationship that items in the Company’s Statements of
Operations bear to net sales.

YEAR ENDED APRIL 30,

2007 2006 2005
NEESAIES ... s e e et sttt e bbb n e 100.0% 100% 100.0%
OSE OF SAIES ..ottt ettt s aer st eras b st aseara st v e r et rrasn e e sne b ent bbbt 60.6% 45.9% 46.3%
GROSS PTOSIL. ..o it ettt et st se s er s s et sa s e et e et et pmrat s 39.4% 54.1% 53.7%
Selling, general & administrative BXPENSE ....ocvvveeciiierire s escse e e e e s ss e, 40.6% 29.7% 29.0%
Research & development COSS ... ..ot et e s 8.0% 4.3% 6.5%
Contract research (INCOME) .......oc.oiicrviriieiireee e srsers st sae st sr e et et e sbarens -0.2% 0.0% -0.1%
INEEIESE EXPEISE «..evviiiiiit ittt e e e e b er bbbt e e e e et ear s rerens 0% 0.0% 0.0%
Interest (inCome) and OLNET..........ccvvi ettt e e st e et e st st e s s s smsae o -2.2% -2.5% -1.0%
TOA] BXPEIISES 1.vemceeirieirie ettt ste et sr e s ee b s e ress e s e ene srebssesebetssaats 46.2% 31.5% 34.4%
[ncome before tAX PrOVISION ..., v esieseeee e urasse s e s e esevaes s e s e e s s sensasesn v -6.8% 22.6% 19.3%
INECOME tAX PrOVISION ...cciiiii vttt e en e st s bs s 3.4% 7.9% 7.0%
NELINCOME (JOSS) cvveeeeiiiee e cres e r e sn e se e et er e ae et e e s saee e ereenbaesseabans satsenssnnesmnsnens -3.4% 14.7% 12.3%

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2007 AND 2006

Net sales for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007 and 2006 were $58,893,000 and $78,020,000. respectively, a decrease of
$19,122,000 or 25%. Net sales of generic pharmaceutical products, which includes some private label contract
manufacturing, for the twelve months ended April 30, 2007 and 2006 were $45,684,000 and $64,568,000, a decrease of
518,884,000, or approximately 29%. The decrease is primarily due to pricing declines on our existing product line and a
decrease in unit volume due to a weaker than normal cold and flu season in the spring and fall of 2006. The Company’s
leading generic product for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, Sulfamethoxazole with Trimethoprim, faced two new
competitors resulting in lower sales volumes and lower prices.

The Health Care Products division, which markets the Company’s branded products, for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007
and 2006 had net sales of $10,845,000 and $9,767, 000 respectively, an increase of $1,078,000 or 11%. This increase is
primarily the regult of increased sales of the Zostrix" line of products acquired in July of 2005, and increased sales of
Diabetic Tussin® due to product line extensions, Diabetic Tussin® accounted for net sales of approximately $6,000,000 for the
twelve months ended April 30, 2007 and $5,200,000 for the twelve months ended April 30, 2006,

Sales of branded prescription items including Tanafed” DMX and Naprelan® decreased to $2,369,000 from $3,685,000 for
the twelve month periods ended April 30, 2007 and April 30, 2006, respectively, due to sales declines of both products. The
Company divested the Naprelan” brand on April 30, 2007.

Cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, increased to 61% for the twelve months ended April 30, 2007 from 46% for the
twelve months ended April 30, 2006. This increase was due to price reductions on higher margin products and the
implementation of FAS 123(R) which resulted in $584,000 of cost related to the expensing of stock options. Additionally, as
part of the sale of the Naprelan’ brand, some Naprelan™ product sales to Victory were at cost, increasing the cost of sales
percentage of the Company.

Research and product development costs for fiscal 2007 increased to $4,733,000 or 8% of net sales, compared to $3,334,000,
or 4% of net sales for the same period ended April 30, 2006. The increase is primarily due to increased external development
spending, increased salary expense and expense related to stock options of $219,000.

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $23,914,000, or 41% of net sales, from $23,210,000 or 30% of net
sales for the year ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, The increase in expenditures was due to increased stock-based
compensation related to stock options of $2,027,000 and increases in amortization expense offset by decreased legal fees and
selling expenses.
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The Company incurred a ane time expense of $1,800,000 as it settled a lawsuit with Med-Pointe Pharmaceuticals.
Additionally, the Company realized a $1,848,000 gain on the sale of the Naprelan™ brand to Victory Pharma, Inc.. These
jtems are included on the income statement in interest (income) and other.

For the year ended April 30, 2007 the Company incurred a net loss of $2,036,000 compared to net income of $11,453,000 for
the year ended April 30, 2006. The Company incurred a $1,755,000 expense, net of tax benefit, due to the implementation of
FAS 123(R) in the year ended April 30, 2007.

The Company incurred a loss of $.17 per basic and fully diluted share for the year ended April 30, 2007 compared to earnings
of $.85 per fully diluted share for the year ended April 30, 2006. The decrease includes approximately $.15 per share of costs
relating o the expensing of stock options for the period ending April 30, 2007.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR YEARS ENDED APRIL 30, 2006 AND 2005

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2006 (*‘Fiscal 2006™), net sales increased by $10,337.000, or 15% to $78,020,000 from
$67,683,000 for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2005 (“Fiscal 2005™). The increase was primarily the result of the successful
introdugtion of new pll;oducts into the marketplace including Acyclovir, L-Carnitine and Urealac cream and the acquisition of
Zostrix” and Tanafed” DMX. These increases were partially offset by sales decreases of centain in-line products due to
pricing competition and a weaker than usual cold and flu season.

Generic pharmaceutical products, which include private label contract manufacturing, had net sales for Fiscal 2006 of
$64,568,000, an increase of $7,325,000, or 13%, compared to $57,243,000 in Fiscal 2005. The increase resufted from the
introduction of Acyclovir, L-Carnitine and Urealac crearn which were partially offset by weaker demand for cold and flu
products and the price decreases of several in-line products.

Health Care Products Division, which markets the Company’s branded products, had net sales of $9,767,000 and $8,325,000
for Fiscal 20055 and 2005, respectively, with an increase of $1,442,000, or 17%. This incrcase is primarily the result of sales
of the Zostrix  line of products which were acquired in July 2005.

For the year ended April 30, 2007, sales of branded prescription products including N‘aerelanm and Tanafed’ DMX were
approximately $3,685,000, an increase of $1,570,000 primarily due to sales of Tanafed' DMX which was purchased from
First Horizon in December 2005.

Cost of sales, as a percentage of net sales, was relatively flat at 46% for Fiscal 2006 and for Fiscal 2005. Pricing decreases of
in-line products were offset by strong gross margins of our newly launched and recently acquired products. In the generic
drug industry, certain products may contribute significantly to a company’s gross profit. The gross profit on these products
may change as market conditions change.

Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percentage of net sales, increased to 30% from 29%, an increase of
$3,636,000 to $23,210,000 for Fiscal 2006 from $19,574,000 for Fiscal 2005. This change resulted principally from
increased advertising and promotional spending for Zostrix', increased legal fees and an increased amortization for
intangibles relating to Naprelanﬁ, Zostrix” and Tanafed” DMX. The Company incurred a non-cash pre-tax charge for options
granted in 2001 and 2002 to a consultant who is a director of the Company in the amount of $237,000 for Fiscal 2006
compared to $130,000 in Fiscal 2005. This pre-tax charge was based, in part, on the market value of the Company’s stock on
the measurement date.

Research and development costs decreased to $3,334,000 for Fiscal 2006 from $4,373,000 for Fiscal 2005 primarily as a
result of expenses,&incurred in the prior year, associated with developing Fluticasone propionate nasal spray, a generic
version of Flonase® steroidal nasal spray which required both bioequivalency studies and clinical studies.

Interest income increased due to increases in the interest rates earned on marketable securities. Other income related to
Marco-Hitech increased approximately $651,000, as the Company recognized the increase in value of this joint venture.

The effective tax rate for the Company decreased to 34.9% from 36.5%, because the Company wiilized various tax credits
related to prior years.

Net income increased 38% or $3,165.000 to $11,453,000 for Fiscal 2006 from net income of $8,288,000 for Fiscal 2005, due
to increased sales, increased gross profit, lower research and development spending and higher interest and other income
which were partially offset by higher selling, general, and administrative expenditures.

17




Diluted eamings per share for Fiscal 2006 were $0.85, up from $0.64, split adjusted, for the prior year due to the factors
mentioned above.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company's operations are historically financed principally by cash flow from operations. At April 30, 2007 and April 30, 2006
working capital was approximately $55,540,000 and $65,234,000, respectively. The decrease of $9,694,000 was primarily due to
the purchase of treasury stock and capital expenditures.

>

Cash flows from operating activities were approximately $1,151,000, which was the result of a net loss offset by depreciation and
amortization of $2,835,000 and increases and decreases in other operating assets and liabilities.

Cash flows provided by investing activities were approximately $220,000 and were principally proceeds from the sale of the
Naprelan® license and the sale of marketable securities offset by payments for investments in fixed assets. Cash flows used in
financing activities were $10,685,000 which was primarily due to purchases of treasury stock offset by the net proceeds of the
exercise of incentive stock options.

In May 2006 the Company cntered into a three year $10,000,000 revolving credit facility. The revolving credit facility bears interest
al a rate elected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or the LIBOR plus 0.75%. Loans are collateralized by inventory, accounts
receivable and other assets. The agreement contains covenants with respect to working capital, net worth and certain ratios, as well
as other covenants and prohibits the payment of cash dividends. At April 30, 2007, the Company has not drawn down on this ¢credit
facility and is in default of certain covenants, however, the lender has waived our compliance with these covenants,

The Company believes that its financial resources consisting of current working capital, anticipated future operating revenue and its
credit line will be sufficicnt to enable it to meet its working capital requirements for at least the next twelve months.

In May 1997, the Company announced a stock buy-back program under which the Board of Directors authorized the purchase of up
to 31,000,000 of its common stock. In November 2003, the Company increased the stock buy-back program to an aggregate of
$3,000,000. The Company’s Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to an additional $10,000,000 of the Company’s
common stock in August 2004 and again in September 2006. As of April 30, 2007, the Company can purchased up to $23,000,000
under the stock buy-back program. As of April 30, 2007, the Company has purchased 1,997,000 shares at a cost of $19,390,000. In
the fiscal year ended 2007 the Company purchased 896,000 shares for $1 1,444,000,

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 159”), “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities,” providing companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Standard’s
objective is to reduce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in camings caused by measuring
related assets and liabilities differently. Generally accepted accounting principles have required different measurement attributes for
different assets and liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings. SFAS 159 helps to mitigate this type of accounting-
induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value, which would likely reduce the need for
companies to comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting. SFAS 159 also establishes presentation and disclosure requirements
designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose different measurement attributes for similar types of assets and
liabilities. The Standard requires companies to provide additional information that will help investors and other users of financial
statements to more casily understand the effect of the Company’s choice to use fair value on its earnings. It also requires entities to
display the fair value of those assets and liabilities for which they have chosen to use fair value on the face of the batance sheet.
SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS 159 on our financial statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAW?) 108, Considering the
Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements (SAB 108). SAB 108
requires that public companies utilize a “dual-approach” to assessing the quantitative effects of financial misstatements. This dual
approach includes both an income statement focused assessment and a balance sheet focused assessment. The guidance in SAB 108
must be applied to annual financial statements for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 will not
have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158,
*Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements

No. 87,88,106 and 132( R ),” which requires employers 10: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a plan’s
overfunded status or a liability for a plan’s underfunded status; (5} measure a plan’s assets and its obligations that determine its
funded status as of the end of the employer’s fiscal year; and {(c) recognize changes in the funded status of a defined benefit
postretirement plan in the year in which the changes occur. Those changes will be reported in comprehensive income of a business
entity. The requirement to recognize the funded status of a benefit plan and the disclosure requirements are effective as of the end of
the fiscal year ending after December 15, 2006, for entities with publicly traded equity securities. The requirement to measure plan
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assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer’s fiscal ycar-end statement of financial position is effective for fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company does not have a defined benefit retirement plan; therefore, the adoption of
SFAS No. 158 will not have any impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, “Fair
Value Measurements™ which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting
principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurcments. Where applicable, SFAS No. 157 simplifies and
codifies related guidance within GAAP and does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for
financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Earlier
adoption is encouraged. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 1o have a significant effect on its financial
position or results of operation.

In July 2006, the FASB issucd FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an Interpretation of
FASB Statement 109 (“FIN 48™), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation provides that
the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the position is more likely than
not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are effective as of the
beginning of fiscal 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an adjustment to opening
retained carnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America, we
are required to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and revenues and expenses for the reporting period covered thereby. Asa
result, thesc estimates are subject to an inherent degree of uncertainty, We base our estimates and judgments on our historical
expericnce, the terms of existing contracts, our observance of trends in the industry, information that we obtain from our custotners
and outside sources, and on various assumptions that we believe (o be reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgments which impact our reported operating results and the carrying values of assets
and liabilitics. These assumptions include but are not limited to the percentage of new products which may have chargebacks and
the percentage of items which will be subject to price decreases. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Our significant
accounting policies are more fully described in Note A to our financial statements.

Revenue recognition and accounts receivable, adjustments for returns and price adjustments, allowance for doubtful accounts and
carrying value of inventory represent significant estimates made by management.

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable: Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and when risk is passed to
the customer and when estimates of discounts, rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other
potential adjustments are reasonably determinable, collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance
obligations. These estimates are presented in the financial statements as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable,
Estimated sales returns, allowances and discounts are provided for in determining net sales. Contract research income is recognized
as work is completed and billable costs are incurred. In cerain cases, contract research income is based on attainment of designated
milestones.

Adjustments for Returns and Price Adjustments: Our product revenues are typically subject to agreements with customers allowing
chargebacks, rebates, rights of return, pricing adjustments and other allowances. Based on our agreements and contracts with our
customers, we calculate adjustments for these items when we recognize revenue and we book the adjustments against accounts
receivable and revenue. Chargebacks, primarily from wholesalers, are the most significant of these items. Chargebacks result
from arrangements we have with end users establishing prices for products for which the end user independently selects a
wholesaler from which to purchase. A chargeback represents the difference between our invoice price to the wholesaler,
which is typically stated at wholesale acquisition cost, and the end customer’s contract price, which is lower. We credit the
wholesaler for purchases by end customers at the lower price. Therefore, we record these chargebacks at the time we
recognize revenue in connection with our sales to wholesalers.
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The reserve for chargebacks is computed in the following manner. The Company obtains wholesaler inventory data for the
wholesalers which represent over 95% of our chargeback activity. This inventory is multiplied by the historical percentage of
units that are charged back and by the price adjustment per unit to arrive at the chargeback accrual. This calculation is
performed by product by customer. The calculated amount of chargebacks could be affected by other factors such as:

* A change in retail customer mix

* A change in negotiated terms with retailers

»  Product sales mix at the wholesaler

+  Retail inventory tevels

»  Changes in Wholesale Acquisition Cost (WAC)

The Company continually monitors the chargeback activity and adjusts the provisions for chargebacks when we believe that
the actual chargebacks will differ from our original provisions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Company maintains a return policy that allows our customers to return product within a
specified period. The Company’s estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns, While such
experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate indicator of future
returns, The Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments when it believes that actual
product returns may differ from the established accruals.

Included in the adjustment for sales allowances and returns is a reserve for credits taken by our customers for rebates, return
authorizations and other discounts.

Sales discounts are granted for prompt payment, The reserve for sales discounts is based on invoices outstanding and
assumes that 100% of available discounts will be taken.

Price adjustments, including shelf stock adjustments, are credits issued from time to time to reflect decreases in the selling
prices of our products which our customer has remaining in its inventory at the time of the price reduction. Decreases in our
selling prices are discretionary decisions made by us to reflect market conditions. Amounts recorded for estimated price
adjustments are based upon specified terms with direct customers, estimated launch dates of competing products, estimated
declines in market price and inventory held by the customer. The Company analyzes this on a case by case basis and makes
adjustments to reserves as necessary.

The Company adequately reserves for chargebacks, discounts, allowances and returns in the period in which the sales takes
place. No material amounts included in the provision for chargebacks and the provision for sales discounts recorded in the
current period relate to sales made in the prior periods. The provision for sales allowances and retumns includes reserves for
items sold in the current and prior periods. The Company has substantially and consistently used the same estimating
methods. We have refined the methods as new data became available. There have been no material differences between the
estimates applied and actual results.

The Company determines amounts that are material to the financial statements in consideration of all relevant circumstances
including quantitative and qualitative factors. Among the items considered is the impact on individual financial statement
classification, operating income and footnote disclosures and the degree of precision that is attainable in estimating
judgmental items.

The following table presents the roll forward of each significant estimate as of April 30, 2003, 2006 and 2007 and for the
years then ended, respectively.
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Beginning Actual Credits Ending
Balance Current in Current Balance
May 1 Provision Period April 30
For the year ended April 10, 2005
Chargebacks ... $ 1,894,000 18,070,000 {16,775,000) 3,189,000
Sa1ES DISCOUNTS ..ovvvieeeiireeiee st eeeresiesrssereerrresseessessnessssansrnessreries 207,000 2,068,000 (1,895,000) 380,000
Sales Allowances & Returns .........occooevirrreiiviiniiecisnnnn, 1,723,000 14,684,000 {10,899,000) 5,508,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances........... $ 3,824,000 34,822,000 (29,569,000) 9,077,000
For the year ended April 30, 2006
Chargebacks.. ..o $ 3,189,000 19,986,000 (19,816,000) 3,359,000
SalES DISCOUNIS ...ooeiniii i e eeeeerieees e sasssstassaeasss e erraesnrresreens 380,000 2,258,000 (2,335,000) 303,000
Sales Allowances & RetUms ....oooveeveeciienrnccereccnernec e 5,508,000 9,866,000 (11,633,000) 3,741,000
Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances........... $ 9,077,000 32,‘1 10,000 (33,784,000) 7,403,000
For the year ended April 30, 2007 '
Chargebacks. ...t $ 3,359,000 23,126,000 (22,976,000) 3,509,000
Sales DHSCOUNLS ....uviiieereeece e cree e reree s sece et reee e s e e enrrniabsn 303,000 2,126,000 (2,172,000) 257,000
Sales Allowances & Returns ........cceccvvvveiienninisincniinns 3,741,000 14,754,000 (12,975,000) 5,520,000

Total Adjustment for Returns & Price Allowances...........

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts; We have historically provided credit terms to customers in accordance with what

$ 7,403,000 § 40,006,000 § (38,123,000) § 9,286,000

management views as industry norms. Financial terms, for credit-approved customers, are generally on either a net 30 or 60
day basis, though most customers are entitled to a prompt payment discount. Management periodically and regularly reviews
customer account activity in order to assess the adequacy of allowances for doubtful accounts, considering factors such as
economic conditions and each customer’s payment history and creditworthiness. If the financial condition of our customers
were to deteriorate, or if they were otherwise unable to make payments in accordance with management’s expectations, we
would have to increase our allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories; We state inventories at the lower of average cost or market, with cost being determined based upon the average
method. In evaluating the inventory, management considers such factors as the amount of inventory on hand, estimated time
required to sell existing inventory and expected market conditions, including levels of competition. We establish reserves for
slow-moving and obsolete inventories based upon our historical experience, product expiration dates and management’s
assessment of current product demand.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As part of our ongoing business, we do not participate in transactions that generate relationships with unconsolidated entities
or financial partnerships which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or
other contractually narrow or limited purposes. As of April 30, 2007 we were not involved in any unconsolidated transactions
or off-balance sheet arrangements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company’s existing credit facility bears interest at a rate selected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR
plus 0.75%. This facility is exposed to market rate fluctuations and may impact the interest paid on any borrowings under the
credit facility. Currently, the Company has no borrowings under this facility; however, an increase in interest rates would
impact interest expense on future borrowings.

The Company invests in U.S. treasury notes, government asset backed securities and municipal securities, all of which are
exposed to interest rate fluctuations. The interest earned on these investments may vary based on fluctuations in the interest
rate.

21




ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEX PAGE NUMBER
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Fir ...t v F-2
Balanee SHEELS .....co ittt a ettt bR R et A e st baen st esra e eee F-3
StAtEMENTS OF OPEIATIONS ..o eciiie ettt ettt et et re s et ae s e e s et e e bt e e bes e a e m bt e n bt en b e F-4
Statements of Changes in SIockholders” EQUILY ..o..oooiiiriiic e e F-5
Statements OF CASH FIOWS......c.oi e e e bbbttt et F-6
Notes 10 FINANCIal SEAEMEIIS..........ccoiiiiiriieir ettt ettt bbbt bt bbb E-7

F-1




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Company, Inc. (the “Company”) as of April 30,
2007 and 2006, and the related statements of operations, changes in stockholders” equity. and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended April 30, 2007. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management.
Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial staternents referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of April 30, 2007 and 2006, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended April 30, 2007, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,

As discussed in Note A[15] to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock-based
compensation effective May 1, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States),
the effectiveness of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2007, based on
criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission, and our report dated July 9, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, and an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

EISNER LLP
New York, New York
July 9, 2007
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CURRE

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO,, INC.

BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS
NT ASSETS:

Cash and cash eqUIVAIENTS ... s rrsse i saseress e rsassenens
Investments in marketable securities — available for sale..............ocovvvecimivcvenn e
Accounts receivable (less atlowances for doubtful accounts of $350,000 at April 30,

2007 and 2006) ...t e oo e

IVENLIOTY Lottt ettt et e skt s s e e e e e aeemt e e
Prepaid INCOME tAXES .....ccivee ettt es et et essa e s saasc s ssaescnnanass
Deferred INCOME LAXES . .coiiiieeiieeecer vt ess e ra e r e s e ss b s bt et st besra bbbt ssbsabsssbesasterassans
OLhEr CUITENL ASSELS ..veiiviiiveeiiiieesis e ritescanesie s st e s b s e aesssesas s b s et s ebbrasbesabesabsebbantnsontesabeatens

TOTAL
Property

CURRENT ASSETS
ANd EQUIPITIENT, TEL ...oetieiiieeeinee ettt et ree e et b e e st ebsse et es b b e rrssesrase s

L 4 T=) T OO SO U
Investment in Neuro-Hitech-available for sale (See note F)u e een,
INTANGIDLIE ASSELS, NEL .. .oooiirrerriresrirrisnses e vessssrirtirsriessesesssssssassarsrsssseressssrsetsssbrnsssersrssssenstasesrinerss

TOTAL

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
ACCOUNTS PAYADIE ..ot et et n e e b e beat bt a s
ACCTUCH EXPEIISES ..o eeitiscet et escent s ereere b estess e ressssressessbateanbete b bseatesenesssebnesassnentesbarans

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES....cccoionevirnsaensensonns

Deferred
TOTAL

ITICOITIE LBXES 1vvvvverrvirrssseraierssrrinsereensessensessrensenseessnsesasansassesesssinsesassnsssesrassnsssessessensessesens
LIABILITIES ... oottt et e e e imtmtast s e rere s st st e resse s st e s saessa s sassananbasssrerassnsnstarnns

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $.01 per share; authorized 3,000,000 shares, none issued ........
Common stock, par value $.01; autherized 50,000,000 shares, 13,424,000 and

13,289,000 shares issued at April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively ......cccooveveicriennnn.

Additional paid-in CAPILAL.......vecreriiive e rreneeerir e rsisr s sreesis e s saessesraessessnesssssnsesraessessasennns
REtAINE GAIMINES ....ocvivverrriererirsiererimreeraressvesreeene e eseneeameeessaaas s pesonseantanresea aeemsanns smeamenneas
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax ...,
Treasury stock, 1,997,000 and 1,101,000 shares of common stock, at cost April 30,

TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY.

2007 and 2006, reSpectiVely. ..ot e

See notes to Financial Statements
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April 30,
007 2006

$ 9,198000 $ 18,512,000
24,070,000 25,000,000
9,331,000 16,719,000
14,485,000 9,130,000
2,772,000 2,030,000
3,226,000 2,716,000
3,961,000 1,098,000
$ 67,043,000 $ 75,205,000
16,597,000 15,738,000
420,000 1,607,000
7,589,000 —
6,093,000 7,829,000
$ 97,742,000 $ 100,379,000
$ 3237000 $§  5332,000
8,266,000 4,639,000
$ 11,503,000 $ 9,971,000
3,254,000 1,966,000
$ 14,757,000 $ 11,937,000
134,000 133,000
50,783,000 47,195,000
46,585,000 48,621,000
4,873,000 439,000
(19,390,000) (7,946,000)
.$ 82985000 S 88,442,000

5 97,742,000 § 100,379,000




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended April 30,
2007 2006 2005
NET SALES oot e e e sre s sre e b a e enresnne s smesrr e sbaens $ 58898,000 $ 78,020,000 % 67,683,000
Cost 0f 200dS SOLd ....cevieeee e 35,704,000 35,833,000 31,360,000
GROSS PROFTT .....ooiiitcectnreeirssne e sanessessams b sseesraeene s srpensesamesneseme s saemens 23,194,000 42,187,000 36,323,000
COST AND EXPENSES:
Selling, general and administrative €Xpense ..........ocooeoeoeeeeeeeeeeeceennane. 23,914,000 23,210,000 19,574,000
Research and product development costs.......ooovevriieariivcnnniesiense e, 4,733,000 3,334,000 4,373,000
Contract research (iNCOME) ........ocoeerierviiiieie e (123,000) (27,000) (50,000)
IITEreSt @XPEISE ....uev e et e r e s s s 18,000 12,000 24,000
Interest (income) and other..........c.cco e (1,314,000) (1,937,000) (655,000)
TOTAL oottt e et e et e sneeanesreneas $ 27,228,000 $ 24,592,000 3§ 23,266,000
Income (loss) before provision for iNCOME tAXES......ovecivininrriirnieerreceernessnnens (4,034,000) 17,595,000 13,057,000
Provision for income tax (benefitl/eXpense ... vvvievrieininrinresinenesieernee e (1,998,000) 6,142,000 4,769,000
NET INCOME (LOSS) ..o rreiesreee st eessessees shssras e snssssnessssnneasns $ (2,036,000) $ 11,453,000 $§ 8,288,000
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE.....ccc. v secenne e venns 3 017y § 09 § 0.70
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE .....c.ocoviiiin e, 5 (0.17 3 085 % 0.64
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING, BASIC... 1 1,884,000 11,939,000 11,858,000
EFFECT OF POTENTIAL COMMON SHARES ..., — 1,465,000 1,130,000
WEIGHTED AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING,
DILUTED ..ottt rne et ssme et s s s be e s ss s bssmne st s enas st e nseans 11,884,000 13,404,000 12,988,000

See notes to Financial Statements




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO,, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS* EQUITY

Common Stock Accumulated
Additional Other Total
Paid in Retained Comprehensive ‘Treasury Stock at  Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Cost Equity Income

BALANCE—

APRIL 30,2004 12,579,000 $126,000 $38,780,000 $28,880,000 — $(998,000) $66,788,000
Net income 8,288,000 8,288,000
Exercise of options 192,000 2,000 565,000 567,000
Purchase of

treasury stock (6,948,000)  (6,948,000)
Issuance of options

for consulting 273,000 273,000
Tax benefit from

exercise of

options 697,000 697,000
BALANCE—

APRIL 30,2005 12,771,000 $128,000 $40,315,000 $37,168,000 — $(7,946,000) $69,665,000
Net income 11,453,000 11,453,000 §$11,453,000
Exercise of options 518,000 5,000 3,005,000 3,010,000
Issuance of options

for consulting 319,000 319,000
Tax benefit from

exercisc of

options 3,556,000 3,556,000
Accumulated other

comprehensive

income, net of

tax $439,000 439,000 439,000
Total

Comprehensive

Income $11,892,000
BALANCE—

APRIL 30,2006 13,289,000 $133,000 347,195,000 348,621,000 $439,000 $(7,946,000) $88.442,000
Net (loss) (2,036,000) (2,036,000) $(2,036,000)
Exercise of options 135,000 1,000 251,000 252,000
Purchase of

Treasury Stock (11,444,000) (11,444,000)
Stock-based

compensation

expense 2,830,000 2,830,000
Tax benefit from

exercise of

options 507,000 507,000
Accumulated other

comprehensive

income, net of

tax $4.434,000 4,434,000 4,434,000
Total

Comprehensive

Income $2,398,000
Balance — April 30,

2007 13,424,000 $134,000 $50,783,000 S$46,585,000 $4,873,000 $(19,390,000) $82,985,000

See notes to Financial Statements




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO.,, INC.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net INCOME (LOSS) ...voriiiiiiii ittt sb s sss s
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
Activities:
Depreciation and amOTiZAION ........cocovriieiiiiecireae et sreeenes
Issuance of options for consulting eXpense......co.coovreeevercoeneerneernes e
Deferred INCOME LAXES ..cooviiiiiceei et e
Tax benefit from exercise of OPUONS .......coooocvvieviin e
Stock based comMpensation EXPENSE ......coviiveiniereeeee et ieeee s
Provision for doubtful aCcoUnts ..o
Gain on sale of intangible @556t ...
CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:
Accounts receivable ..o e
IIIVEIIEOTY 1ottt r e s et e et e e es e et e sane et aeansee e ennan
Prepaid taxes / taxes payable ..o
OHher CUTTENT @SSELS ......oceceriitiviii et ee s st ene sttt e s es b est s emebeeneb s s s ebass
OHRET ASSETS ..ovierietetce ettt ettt sb bbbttt e mnas b staas s e beemets bbb s
AcCounts Payable ... s
ACCTUEH EXPENSES .....coiiiiicitrnr et crrnerrreste e ressaerrsen e rness e s e sae s rreseerbenen e nnesrens

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Investment in marketable SECURTUES, NEL .....ooviieieeceeceeeeeee e
Purchase of fIXed ASSEIS.......oiviiveiiriecrstss e s cests st s ss s snerssses e seaesinsnrens
Purchase of intangible @SSetS.........ccocvvvivirir i e
Proceeds from sale of intangible asset, NEL.......coc. i e

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from the exercise of OPHONS.......oovci i
Tax benefit of Stock INCENLVES ..o e e e
Purchase of treasury SIOCK ........cocevrivieieniee e enasnans

NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET( DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..........ccoociviiviiiieiniine

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information............coeeveeeiniereeennns
Cash paid for: INETESL......cviiiiieicr e s sse e
INCOMIE LAXES. ..o iieiceieert e vt re e ine s s e esaesnnerne s srbsreesesseesiessnrennes
INON-CASH LFANSACTIONSE: L.eerieieie et ceeeae e e e e re e eee e sesnesensenene s
Acquisition of intangible assets included in accrued expenses ........
Notes receivable from the sale of intangible asset ..........cocovvenenn,

See notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended April 30,

2007 2006 2005
$  (2,036,000) $ 11,453,000 $ 8,288,000
2,835,000 2,616,000 2,053,000
— 237,000 130,000
(1,490,000) 6,000 (1,529,000)
— 3,556,000 697,000
2,830,000 — —
— — 75,000
(1,848,000) — —
7,388,000 (1,115,000)  (5,830,000)
(5,843,000) (281,000)  (1,745,000)
(742,000) (2,220,000) 1,229,000
(47,000) (84,000) 263,000
300,000 (548,000) (75,000)
(2,095,000) (78,000) 880,000
1,899,000 (463,000) 2,651,000
$ 1,151,000 $ 13,079,000 $ 7,087,000
930,000 (15,000,000) 5,000
(2,847,000) (4,150,000) (2,980,000
(150,000) (5,554,000) (3,231,000
2,287,000 —_ —
$ 220,000 $ (24,704,000) $ (6,206,000)
252,000 3,010,000 567,000
507,000 — —
(11,444,000) — (6,948,000)
$ (10,685000) $ 3,010,000 $ (6,381,000)
(9,314,000) (8,615,000)  (5,500,000)
18,512,000 27,127,000 32,627,000
$ 9,198,000 $ 18,512,000 $ 27,127,000
$ 18,000 $ 12,000 $ 24,000
— $ 5282000 $§ 4,370,000
1,250,000 — —
2,816,000 — —




HI-TECH PHARMACAL CQ,, INC,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

{NOTE A) The Company and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
[1] Business:

Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™ or “Hi-Tech™) manufactures and sells prescription and over-the-counter generic
drugs, in liquid and semi-solid dosage forms including higher margin prescription products. The Company markets its
products in the United States through distributors, retail drug and mass-merchandise chains and mail order companies.
Revenue is seasonal and usually peaks between September and March of each year, since a significant portion of the
Company’s products are pharmaceutical preparations acting on the human respiratory system.

Generic pharmaceutical products, which include private label contract manufacturing, had net sales of $45,684,000,
£64,568,000, and $57,243,000 for years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively. The Company’s leading generic
products in 2007 were Sulfamethoxazale and Trimethoprim, and the Promethazine line, but neither of these had sales of over
10% of total Hi-Tech sales. The Company’s leading generic products in 2006 were Sulfamethoxazole and Trimethoprim and
Urea 40%, but neither had sales of over 10% of total Hi-Tech sales. The Company’s leading generic products in 2005 were
Sulfamethoxazole and Trimethoprim with sales of $6,600,000 and Urea 40% with sales of $6,500,000.

Health Care Products Division, which markets the Company’s branded products, had net sales of $10,845,000, $9,767,000,
and $8,325,000 for the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Diabetic Tussin accounted for $6,000,000,
$5,200,000 and $5,300,000 for the years ended 2007, 2006, and 2005 respectively.

For the year ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, sales of branded prescription products, including Naprelan”and Tanafed” DMX,
were approximately $2,368,000 and $3,685,000, respectively.

|2] Inventory:
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in first-out or average cost) or market.

|3] Property and equipment:

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Estimated depreciation and
amortization of the respective assets s computed using the straight line method over their estimated useful lives.

[4] Income taxes:

The Company uses the liability method to account for deferred income taxes in accordance with statement of financial
accounting standards (“SFAS™) No. 109. The liability method measures deferred income taxes by applying enacted statutory
rates in effect at the balance sheet date to the differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their reported
amounts in the financial statements. The resulting asset or liability is adjusted to reflect changes in the tax law as they occur.

[S] Revenue recognition:

Revenue is recognized for product sales upon shipment and passing of risk to the customer and when estimates of discounts,
rebates, promotional adjustments, price adjustments, returns, chargebacks, and other potential adjustments are reasonably
determinable, collection is reasonably assured and the Company has no further performance obligations. These estimates are
presented in the financial statements as reductions to net revenues and accounts receivable. Contract research income is
recognized as work is completed and as billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract research income is based on
attainment of designated milestones.

[6] Advertising Expense:

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005
amounted to $3,059,000, $3,161,000, and $1,606,000, respectively.

|7] Freight Expense:
Freight costs are included in selling, general, and administrative expense.

[8] Research and Development Costs:

Research and product development costs are charged to expense as incurred.
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{9) Cash and cash equivalents:

The Company considers U.S, Treasury bills and government agency obligations with a maturity of three months or less when
purchased 1o be cash equivalents.

[10] Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic earnings (loss) per common share is computed baszd on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding.
Diluted earnings per common share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the year. The
dilutive effect of the outstanding options and warrants was computed using the treasury stock method. The number of
potentially dilutive securities excluded from the computation of diluted income per share was approximately 758,000 at
April 30, 2007.

(11] Long-lived assets:

The Company evaluates and records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations, including intangible assets,
when events and circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired using the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be
generated by those assets. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts or fair
values less disposal costs. No such losses were incurred in the three years ended April 30, 2007,

[12] Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments such as cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable
and accounts payable approximate their fair values, The fair values of the financial instruments are determined by reference
to market data and other valuation techniques, as appropriate.

[13] Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates, The Company makes significant
estimates in many areas of its accounting, including but not limited to the following: sales retumns, chargebacks, aliowances
and discounts, inventory obsolescence, the useful lives of property and equipment and its impairment, stock-based
compensation, accruals, impact of legal matters and the realization of deferred tax assets. Actual results may differ from those
estimates.

[14] Comprehensive Income:

The Company has adopted SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” which requires companies to report all
changes in equity during a period, except those resulting from investment by owners and distribution to owners, for the
period in which they are recognized. Comprehensive income is the total of net income and ali other non-owner changes in
equity (or other comprehensive income) such as unrealized gains/losses on securities classified as available for sale.
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[15] Stock-Based Compensation:

Effective May 1, 2006, the Company adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 123(R)}, “Share-Based Payments,” which establishes the accounting for
employee stock-based awards. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), stock-based compensation is measured at the grant
date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and is recognized as an expense over the requisite employee service
period {generally the vesting period of the grant). The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective
method and, as a result, periods prior to May 1, 2006 have not been restated.

As a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) the Company recognized stock-based compensation for awards issued under
the Company’s Stock Option Plans in the following line items in the Statement of Operations:

Ycar ended
April 30, 2007
St O SRIES 1 eveite st ee e e e e et e e ee e e et e et seksreeea b best ek b et e St b d e R b e b S e SRt eRe R b e be s baseea e s e Rean e reer e eRernen $ 584,000
Selling, general and adminiStralive EXPENSES .....coeeiviensieiniririirrse e esresesiresiereseesasssesssneseneseens 2,027,000
Research and develOpment €XPENSES .........oivieinineeiienirnnr i ime s vamts s ere e e e ensaesnreeen 219,000
Stock-based compensation expense before income tax benefit ... 2,830,000
INCOME 13X DENETTE 1rvievririre ettt s s s e em e e em e m s sre e em s ean s be b sabra s snmssenaesnnenan (1,075,000)
Net COMPENSALION EXPETISC.......ccuimiemrmiaceeeree ettt st st st s s s b s e s se b b bnbs e mar e e e s s b ee 2 s b 8 1,755,000

During the years ended April 30, 2006 and April 30, 2005, the Company recorded compensation expense for employee stock
options based upon their intrinsic value on the date of grant pursuant to Accounting Principles Board (*APB™) Opinion

No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Since the exercise price for such options was equal to the fair market
value of the Company’s stock at the date of grant, the stock options had no intrinsic value upon grant and, therefore, no
expense was recorded in the Statements of Operations.

Stock-based compensation expense, net of related income tax benefit, resulted in an increase in basic and diluted loss per
share of $0.15, for the twelve months ended April 30, 2007 as a result of the adoption of SFAS 123(R).

Had the compensation cost of the Company’s employee stock award plans for the twelve months ended April 30, 2006 and
April 30, 2005 been determined in accordance with SFAS No. 123, the Company’s pro forma net income and net income per
share would have been:

Year ended Year ended
April 30, 2006 April 30, 2005

NEliNCOME, 85 FEPOTIEL ......evevvieieceee st seas b e ra s nr e et b bense s or s st n s $ 11,453,000 % 8,288,000
Less: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based

method for all awards, net of related tax effects ..o (1,351,000) (1,026,000)
Pro fOrMA NEL INCOIMNE «...cc.ev v itveerisreeeeeeeeeeteeeteeeree et eessssbe s tbars s e sbe st asrsenbesastannnsseeesnrensasens $ 10,102,000 § 7,262,000
Net income per share:
As reported
BASIC . veueeereeetese et eietee e e e et e s eeeser st ane s et en s e et et ekt eA ekt as s R e b eR s e e e Ee e eae et e b e et naret e b 096 % 0.70
DB ottt et et e et eoe s e s st ate saa et aabassasnessarteasesrersseneerpessesssanscaseneeearanrens $ 085 % 0.61
Pro forma
|37 (oIS O S POV P POV PTURRRURRN $ 085 % 0.64
DHIULE vttt tes st eers raest e s s saesnssesseesbe s e esetesseameeesesaesseatesstesssssaneensesaesssnasens 5 075 § 0.56

Under the modified prospective method, SFAS No. 123(R) applies to new awards and to awards outstanding on the effective
date that are subsequently modified or cancelled. Compensation expense for outstanding awards for which the requisite
service had not been rendered as of May 1, 2006 is being recognized over the remaining service period using the
compensation cost calculated for pro forma disclosure purposes under SFAS No. 123. The Company amortizes the fair value
of all awards on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Cumulative compensation expense recognized at any
date will at least equal the grant date fair value of the vested portion of the award at that time.
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SFAS No. 123(R) requires the use of a valuation model to calculate the fair value of stock-based awards. The Company has
elected to use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, which incorporates various assumptions including volatility, expected
life and interest rate, The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The
expected life of an award is based on the expected life pursuant to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107, “Share Based
Payments”. The interest rates for periods within the contractual life of the award are based on the U.S. Treasury yield on the
date of each option grant.

The following weighted average assumptions were used for stock options granted during the years ended April 30, 2007,
2006 and 2005:

Year Ended
April 30,
2007 2006 2005
Dividend yield ..o None None None
Expected vOLatility ......occcvoiecrimerrsr e 52% 61% 61%
Risk-free INEreSt rate...ocvou e e e e 4.69% 4.45% 3.55%
EXPected termMi.. oo e e e 5.0 5.0 5.0
Weighted average fair value per share at grant date .........ccooovrevverceeniienns $ 616 § 1285 § 631

All options granted through April 30, 2007 had exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant,
a contractual term of ten years and generally a vesting period of four years. In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the
Company adjusts stock-based compensation on a quarterly basis for changes to the estimate of expected equity award
forfeitures based on actual forfeiture experience. The effect of adjusting the forfeiture rate for all expense amortization after
May 1, 2006 is recognized in the period the forfeiture estimate is changed. As of April 30, 2007, the forfeiture rate was 8.0%
and the effect of forfeiture adjustments in the year April 30, 2007 was insignificant.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the Company presented all tax benefits related to stock-based compensation as an
operating cash inflow. SFAS No. 123(R) requires the cash flows resulting from tax deductions in excess of compensation
cost recognized for those options (excess tax benefits) to be classified as financing cash flows. The actual income tax benefits
realized for tax deductions related to option exercises of share-based payments was $507,000, $3,556,000 and $697,000 for
the year ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

STOCK OPTION PLAN ACTIVITY
Employee Stock Option Plan:

A summary of the stock options activity and related information for the 1992 Stock Option Plan (“Employee Plan™} for the
year ended April 30, 2007 is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
1992 Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value

Outstanding at May 1|, 2006... 2,135000 § 9.51

Grants........coeeveeeevveeeeceeeennene, 275,000 11.50

Exercised .......oovveeeiiiiieneae. {125,000) 1.85

Forfeitures or expirations....... (38,0000 3.59

OQutstanding at April 30, 2007 2,247,000 10.29 60 $ 9,985,000
Vested and expected to vest at

April 30, 2007 2,188,000 10.16 59 % 9,916,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2007 1,509,000 7.93 47 § 9,131,000
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Directors Stock Option Plan

A summary of the stock option activity and related information for the 1994 Director Stock Option Plan for the year ended
April 30, 2007 is as follows:

Weighted-Average

Weighted-Average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
1994 Directors Stock Option Plan Shares Exercise Price Contractual Term Value
Qutstanding at May 1, 2006.........ccoovvvnevinrinins 345000 § 11.51
Grants....coooovrreecinn e 71,000 14.99
EXEICISE...ceeieeiiiei et (10,000} 2.24
Outstanding at April 30, 2007 ..., 406,000 12.35 68 § 1,342,000
Vested and expected to vest at April 30, 2007........... 406,000 12.35 68 § 1,342,000
Exercisable at April 30, 2007 ... 230,000 877 54 % 1,250,000

The aggregate intrinsic values in the preceding tables represent the total pretax intrinsic value, based on options with an
exercise price less than the Company’s closing stock price of $13.24 as of April 30, 2007, which would have been received
by the option holders had those option holders exercised their options as of that date.

Total intrinsic values of options exercised for the 1992 Stock Option Plan and the 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan were
$1,342,000 and $9,358,000 for the years ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively. As of April 30, 2007, $8,325,000 of
total unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options for both plans is expected to be recognized over a weighted-
average period of 2.5 years.

[16] Recent Accounting Pronouncements:

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 (“SFAS 159™), “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities,” providing companies with an option to report selected financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The Standard’s
objective is to reduce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the volatility in earnings caused by
measuring related assets and liabilities differently. Generally accepted accounting principles have required different
measurement atiributes for different assets and liabilities that can create artificial volatility in earnings. SFAS 159 helps to
mitigate this type of accounting-induced volatility by enabling companies to report related assets and liabilities at fair value,
which would likely reduce the need for companies to comply with detailed rules for hedge accounting. SFAS 159 also
establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between companies that choose
different measurcment attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. The Standard requires companies to provide
additional information that will help investors and other users of financiat statements to more easily understand the effect of
the Company’s choice to use fair value on its eamings. It also requires entities to display the fair value of those assets and
liabilities for which they have chosen to use fair value on the face of the balance sheet. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. We are currently evatuating the impact of adopting SFAS 159 on our financial
statements.

In September 2006, the Securities and Exchange Commission staft issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements
(SAB 108). SAB 108 requires that public companies utilize a “dual-approach” to assessing the quantitative effects of
financial misstatements. This dual approach includes both an income statement focused assessment and a balance sheet
focused assessment. The guidance in SAB 108 must be applied to annual financial statements for fiscal years ending afier
November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 will not have a material effect on the Company’s results of operations or
financial position.

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158,
“Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans-an amendment of FASB Statements
No. 87,88,106 and 132( R ),” which requires employers to: (a) recognize in its statement of financial position an asset for a
plan’s overfunded status or a liability for a ptan’s underfunded status; (b) measure a plan’s assets and its obligations that
determine its funded status as of the end of the emplover’s fiscal year; and (c) recognize changes in the funded status of a
defined benefit postretirement plan in the year in which the changes occur. Those changes will be reported in comprehensive
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income of a business entity. The requirement to recognize the funded status of a benefit plan and the disclosure requirements
are effective as of the end of the fiscal year ending after December 15, 2006, for entities with publicly traded equity
securities. The requirement to measure plan assets and benefit obligations as of the date of the employer’s fiscal year-end
statement of financial position is effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2008. The Company does not have a
defined benefit retirement plan; therefore, the adoption of SFAS No. 158 will not have any impact on the Company’s results
of operations or financial position,

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157,
“Fair Value Measurements”, which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepled
accounting principles (GAAP), and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Where applicable, SFAS No. 157
simplifies and codiftes related guidance within GAAP and does not require any new fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157
is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within
those fisca) years, Earlier adoption is encouraged. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to have a
significant effect on its financial position or results of operation.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in [ncome Taxes—an Interpretation
of FASRE Statement 109 (“FIN 48”), which clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in tax positions. This Interpretation
provides that the tax effects from an uncertain tax position can be recognized in our financial statements, only if the position
is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on the technical merits of the position. The provisions of FIN 48 are
effective as of the beginning of fiscal 2007, with the cumulative effect of the change in accounting principle recorded as an
adjustment to opening retained earnings. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting FIN 48 on our financial
statements,

(NOTE B) Marketable Securities:

The Company has invested in auction rates securities {ARS) consisting primarily of municipal securities that are held as
investments available-for-sale. After the initial issuance of these securities, the interest rate is reset periodically. The
Company invests in ARS that reset as to interest rate every 7 to 35 days and are carried at fair value.

The Company has determined that auction rate securities should be classified as investments because the “stated” or
“contractual” maturities are generally 20 to 30 years. From an economic viewpoint, the securities are priced and traded as
short term investments because of the interest reset feature. Accordingly, the Company has classified all such auction rate
securities as investments for all periods presented. The schedule of maturities is as follows:

April 30,

Maturity
2007 2006 Date
Municipal SECUTTIIES ...c..o.vivirireerc e $ 24,070,000 § 25,000,000 2023-2042

{NOTE C) Accounts Receivable:

At April 30, 2007 and 2006, accounts receivable balances net of returns and allowances and allowance for doubtful accounts
are as follows:

April 30,
2007 2006

ACCOUNLS TeCIVADIE, BIOSS ..covinieiiiieeeie et ce e e et $ 18,967,000 $ 24472000

Adjustment for returns and price allowances (a) .......cccvvvveieesivnresererreseereeernns (9,286,000) (7,403,000}

Allowance for doubtful accounts...........c.cooceieiiiiiieieeceeee e (350,000) (350,000)

ACCOUNES TECEIVADIE, NMEL. ..ot eee e seeseasrena s e s e esa e baese e saeeaes S 9,331,000 $ 16,719,000
(a) directly reduces gross revenue
(NOTE D) Inventory:
The components of inventory consist of the following:

April 30,
2007 2006

Finished goods and work in PrOCESS ...ttt bsa e e S 5,484,000 § 2,830,000
RAW MATEFIALS ...veiaii it cesrsr e sttt s s e s assess et ab e b s s b e bas st ssab et ssbbseatesssassabesbisateie 9,001,000 6,300,000
TIOAL 1ttt ittt ettt ee et e s e e et e een e saesbeteea s et e saenaebeeeeanseseeseeebeabeensesnanbentesnnnsaanns $ 14485000 § 9,130,000




{NOTE E) Property and Equipment:

The components of net property and equipment consist of the following:

April 30,
2007 2006 Useful Lives

Land and building and improvements............ccoeoveieneneeomncecnsr e $ 12,534,000 § 12,132,000 27.5 Yrs.
Machinery and equipmMent ...........oooooie e 19,040,000 17,073,000 7 and 10 Yrs.
TTansSpoTtAtioN EQUIPITIETIL .....ooov i e e e re e esesaneeeeens 50,000 29,000 7 Yrs.
COMPULET EQUIPITIEIIL ....oiiiiiieieieee e eeees e bssesnsesnstssabeanesn cassseennsstesaessssseasees 2,352,000 2,014,000 3and 7 Yrs.
Furniture and fIXTUIES ...ttt 1,026,000 907,000 7 Yrs.

$ 35002,000 § 32,155,000
Accumulated depreciation and amortization...........ccoo oo, 18,405,000 16,417,000
Total property and eqUIPMENT—TIEt.........ccvrrrerrrrriner e seereens 3 16,597,000 $ 15,738,000

(NOTE F) Investment in Neuro-Hitech;

The valuation of our investment in Neuro-Hitech, Inc., a marketable security valued pursuant to SFAS 1135, is classified as
available for sale and measured at fair value with the adjustiment to fair value and changes therein to be retained by the
Company recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income. At April 30, 2007, the Company owned 1,125,610 shares of
Neuro-Hitech with a market value of $6,70 per share, with a total value of $7,589,000 which resulted in an unrealized gain of
$4,873,000, net of deferred tax of $2,566,000, being included in accumulated other comprehensive income as of such date.

(NOTE G) Other Assets:

Included in other assets is the Company’s investment in a limited liability company for the marketing, development and
distribution of nutritional supplements, Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC (“Macro Hi-Tech”). The investment in Marco Hi-Tech is
recorded using the equity method. During fiscal year ended April 30, 2007 a loss of $249,000 attributable to the investment
in Maro Hi-Tech is included in other income. At April 30, 2007 the carrying value of this investment was $344,000.

(NOTE H) Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets are stated at cost and amortized using the straight line method over the expected useful lives of the product
rights. Amortization expense of the intangible asscts for the year ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $847,000,
$660,000, and $296,000, respectively. Amortization is included in selling, general and administrative expenses for ali periods
presented. The Company tests for impairment of intangible assets annually and when events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable.

Acquired intangible assets consist of:

April 30, 2007 April 30, 2006
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amartization Amount Ameortizatien Amortization Peried

Naprelan® license agreement.......... 5 — 8 — $  323L000 § (619,000 10 years
Zostrix”™ intangible assets............... 5,054,000 (794,000} 5,054,000 (320,000) 3-11.5 years
Tanafed® license agreement........... 500,000 (67,000} 500,000 (17,000) 10 years
Choice DM® trademark, net........... 400,000 — — — 10 years
Capsaisin and Lidocaine patented

formula......ocoeevei e 300,000 — — — 10 years
Vosol® and Vosol® HC intangible

BSSELS cuvveierre i sreeenreste s et 700,000 — — — 10 years

6954000 § (861,000) §  8,785000 § (956,000)
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The Company acquired exclusive rights to market and distribute Naprelan® (naproxen sodium) controlled release tablets in the United
States, its territaries, and Puerto Rico in June 2004. As consideration for the acquisition, Hi-Tech paid $3,400,000 in cash for the license
and inventory, and approximately $170,000 for related acquisition costs. The Company incurred amortization expense of $323,000,
$323.000, and $296,000 for the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006, and 2003, respectively, in connection with Naprelan® license.

On April 30, 2007, the Company sold its rights to the Naprelan® brand to Victory Pharma, Inc. Hi-Tech co-owned the product in
connection with Stat-Trade, Inc. The Company received $6,200,000 in cash and notes receivable. The two notes include a secured
installment note for approximately $1,491,000, with three payments of $497,000 duc to Hi-Tech quarterly, beginning July 30, 2007, and a
secured promissory note for $1,325,000 due on April 30, 2008.

The financial statements as of April 30, 2007 include a gain on the sale of the Naprelan® license agreement of $1,848,000, net of expenses.

On August 9, 2006, the Company acquired the rights in the US and Canada to the Choice DM®& brand name from Novartis AG for
$400,000 plus expenses. Hi-Tech will market a line of Choice DM® nutritional supplements and beverage specially formulated to meet the
dictary needs of diabetic patients, through its OTC division, Health Care Products.

On February 19, 2007 the Company purchased the rights to a Capsaisin and Lidocaine combination product from Redlen Laboratories, Inc.
The purchase price for the formula was $300,000 of which $150,000 was paid upon signing and $150,000 is included in accrued expenses
on April 30, 2007 and was paid on June 19, 2007. The agreement with Rodlen includes a royalty payable to Rodlen based on future net
sales, The Capsaisin and Lidocaine product is in the development stage and no sales, royalties, or amortization of the purchase price have
been recorded at April 30, 2007.

On July 12, 2005, the Company acquired an interest in Zostrix™ brand products for $5.054,000 including $491,000 of closing costs.
$4,000,000 was paid at the closing and $400,000 was payable in four equal quarterly installments commencing October 1, 2005, Such
amount was paid by the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, The Company incurred amomzanon expense of $474,000 and $320,000 for the
years ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in connection with the purchase of Zostix® brand.

On December 30, 2005, the Company acquired the rights to Tanafed® and Tanafed® DMX from First Horizon Pharmaceutical Corporation
for $500,000 subject to the payment of royalties on future sales. The Company incurred amomzauon expense of $50,000 and $17,000 for
the years ended April 30, 2007 and 2006, respectively, in connection with the purchase of Tanafed®.

Estimated Amortizatiecn Expense
For the year ended April 30,

3 645,000
658,000
651,000
613,000
601,000

2,925,000

$ 6,093,000

(NOTE 1) Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities:

The following summarizes accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

April 30,
2007 2006
Accrued Titigation SEIIEMENT .....c..cvriiiire e e et st $ 2,500,000 $ —
Accrued rebates and adVETHISING .......ooooiciici e 2,279,000 1,385,000
Contractual OBIZALIONS ..cco.evveierirrererirerers e s et e s se e st aeeecsaeeeassresaeseenesseesasseesaeasanresmenencorenns 1,038,000 381,000
Accrued commissions and royally PAYITIENLS ..o s 932,000 926,000
Accrued payroll and DOMUSES ......ovvviiiiieri et ea e rae e e srr s e e s sme srenresn e rennenrens 746,000 1,119,000
Accrued professional and 1€gal FEES.......oo i e e 650,000 642,000
ORET et e te e e et e e ra e gt e Rt e SR a e ra e e e e bR e Rg e e b et e e r e npens s sueeatn s 121,000 186,000

S 8,266,000 § 4,639,000

(NOTE J) Customer Deposits and Contract Research Income:

Contract research income is recognized as work is completed and as billable costs are incurred. In certain cases, contract
research income is based on attainment of designated milestones. Advance payments may be received to fund certain
development costs.



(NOTE K) Credit Facility:

In October 2002, the Company obtained a three year $8,000,000 revolving credit facility, The revolving credit facility bore interest at a rate
selected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR pius 1.50%. Loans were collateralized by inventory, accounts receivable and
other assets. The agreement contained covenants with respect to working capital, net worth and certain ratios, as well as other covenants
and prohibited the payment of cash dividends.

In May 2006, the Company amended the revolving credit facility and increased the borrowing limit to $10,000,000. Under the agreement
the revolving credit facility bears interest at a rate elected by the Company equal to the Prime Rate or LIBOR plus 0.75%. Loans are
collateralized by inventory, accounts receivable and other asscts, The agreement contains covenants with respect to working capital, net
waorth and certain ratios, as well as other covenants and prohibits the payment of cash dividends. No borrowings have been made through
April 30, 2007 under the credit facility and the Company is in default of certain covenants, however, the lender has waived our compliance
with these covenants.

{NOTE L) Related Party Transactions:

Bernard Seltzer resigned as Chairman of the Board in September 2004 and served as Chairman of the Board Emeritus until his death in
May 2007. The Company has an employment agreement with the Chairman of the Board Emeritus which expires April 30, 2008.

Mr, Bemnard Seltzer’s employment agreement requires the Company to pay the estate or designated beneficiary through the term of the
agreement April 30, 2008. Compensation under the agreements for all years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $285,000 for each
year, Under the current employment agreement, a discretionary bonus may be authorized by the board of directors. No annual bonuses have
been paid under the agreements for the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

On March 28, 2007, Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., inc. {the “Company”) entered into an amended and restated executive employment agreement
with David S. Seltzer pursuant to which Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective May 1, 2007 through
April 30, 2010, Mr. Seltzer is to receive an annual base salary of $421,375.50 for the period May 1, 2007 through April 30, 2008 (“Base
Salary™) and for each fiscal year thereafter during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be paid a base salary equal to the
sum of (a) the Base Salary for the immediately preceding fiscal year and (b) an amount determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect
for the immediately preceding fiscal year by five (5%). Mr. Seltzer may also receive a bonus during each year of employment which shall
be determined in accordance with an Executive Bonus Plan to be adopted by management and approved by the Company’s compensation
committee. Such Exccutive Bonus Plan may be based on the Company meeting certain fiscal goals and also taking into account, among
other things, progress towards strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net income. Mr. Scltzer shall be eligible to receive options
to purchase a minimum amount of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Compensation under the agreement for the years ended
April 30, 2007, 2006, and 2005 was $401,000, $382,000 and $364,000, respectively. Annual bonuses under the agreement were $314,000,
$277,000, and $227,000 paid in the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The Company utilizes the services of Mr. Reuben Seltzer, an attorney, stockholder and a director, and the son of the Company s Chairman
of the Board Emeritus and brother of the President. He provided legal and new business development services throughout the year. For
each of the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2003, he received fees, auto allowance and health insurance benefits totaling $205,000, $236,000
and $248,000, respectively, Mr. Reuben Seltzer is the CEO of Neuro Hi-Tech and also has an interest in the joint venture of Marco Hi-
Tech as described in Note F.

In addition, in each of fiscal years 2002 and 2001 the Company granted Mr. Reuben Seltzer an option to purchase 37,500 shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $5.76 and $2.67, respectively, which vest at 25% per annum and are exercisable through
2012 and 201§, respectively. During the years ended April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2003, the Company valued this option at $0, $237,000, and
$130,000, respectively, which was charged to operations,

The Company valued these options using the Black Scholes option pricing model assuming risk free rate of 2.31%, volatility of 60%,
dividend yield of 0%, § year term and a stock price of $38.67 for the year ended April 30, 2006, The Company valued this option using the
Black Scholes option pricing model assuming risk free rate of 2.31%-2.85%, volatility of 61%-63%, dividend yield of 0%, 5 year term and
a stock price of $16.40 to $18.47 for the year ended April 30, 2005,

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertise with XCell Pharmaceuticals (“XCell”) and another
company. Reuben Seltzer is a principle of XCell. During the fiscal year, the Company spent approximately $409,000 on this project, which
was included in research and development expense.

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn and Crandell P.C. received $217,000, $213,000, and $389,000, in legal fees in each of the years ended
April 30, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, for services performed for the Company. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such firm, is a
director of the Company.

{(NOTE M) Commitments, Contingencies and Other Matters:

[1] Government regulation:

The Company’s products and facilities are subject to regulation by a number of Federal and state governmental agencies. The
Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™), in particular, maintains oversight of the formulation, manufacture, distribution,
packaging and labeling of all of the Company’s products.
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[2] Legal Proccedings:

On January 30, 2007, Michael Chittenden and Marcy L. Chittenden filed a complaint against Arnold H. Zukow, M.D. et al
and the Company, Case No. BC346212, in the Los Angeles Superior Court in the state of California, alleging wrongful death
of defendant’s daughter as a result of her being negligently and improperly treated and prescribed the prescription drug,
Phenergan (Promethazine HCI) with Phenylefrin and codeine, which the Company does not manufacture. The Company’s
defense costs, after its deductible, are being covered under its product liability policy which has a $10 million limit for
defense costs and liability. The Company filed an answer to the complaint on February 28, 2007. The Company believes it
has meritoricus defenses to the allegations in the Complaint.

On January 18, 2006, Merck & Co., Inc. filed complaints against the Company in the United States District Court for the
District of New Jersey, alleging mfrmgemcnt of Merck’s U.S. Patent No. 4,797,413, based on the Company s submission o
the FDA of ANDAs Nos. 77-846 and 77-847 1o obtain approval for generlc versions of Merck’s TRUSOPT" and COSOPT"
products, which are used for the treatment of elevated intraocular pressure in patients with ocular hypertension or open- -angle
glaucoma Merck sought a permanent injunction against the Company to prevent its manufacture and sale of its genenc
version of Merck’s products until April 28, 2008, which Merck contended was the date on which its patent will expire. The
Company filed answers to the complaints on March 1, 2006, and a motion to dismiss, contending that, due to Merck’s filing
of a terminal disclaimer, its patent was not enforccable atter December 12, 2004. Merck filed a cross-motion for judgment on
the pleadings. On April 25, 2006, the court granted Merck’s motion and entered a judgment enjoining the Company’s
commercial manufacture, use, offer to sell, or sale within the United States, or importation into the United States, of products
covered by Merck’s patent, until April 28, 2008. On May 1, 2006, the Company filed an appeal from that judgment to the
1.8, Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. On March 27, 2007 the Court ruled in favor of Merck. The Company filed a
petition for a rehearing which was denied in June 2007. Legal costs in connection the appeal are being paid for by a business
partner. The Company has no obligation to repay or otherwise issue any credit to such partner for such legal costs.

On November 24, 2003, MedPointe Healthcare, [nc. (“MeadPointe™) filed a complaint against the Company in the United
States District Court for the District of New Jersey, alleging willful infringement by the Company of MedPointe’s United
States Patent No. 6, 417 206, based on the Company s offer to sell its Tannate 12-DS product, as a generic equivalent to
MedPointe’s Tussi-12* DS. MedPointe brought a motion for preliminary injunction against the sale of Tannate 12-DS in
November 2003, The district court granted that motion in March 2004, but the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal
Circuit vacated that ruling in November 2004, finding that MedPointe had not demonstrated a likelihood of success on the
merits of its case.

The Company also filed, in May 2000, a counterclaim and third-party complaint against Jame Fine Chemicals, Inc., D/B/A
JFC Technologies, Inc. and MedPointe in the United States District Court for the District of New Jersey in which it has
asserted various claims, including claims of breach of cantract, breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, tortious
interference with current and prospective contractual relations and for violation of Section | of the Sherman Antitrust Act.
On May 29, 2007 the Company entered into a settlement and release agreement regarding the claims brought by MedPointe.
This agreement also resolves the various claims brought by Hi-Tech against MedPointe and Jame Fine Chemicals, Inc. Under
the terms of the settlement and release agreement, Hi-Tech immediately ceased distribution of its generic version of Tuss-
12"DS and paid MedPointe $2.5 million and MedPointe transferred to Hi-Tech its Vosol * and Vosol " HC brands and lhe
related New Drug Appilcatlons The Company allocated $700,000 to the value of the trademarks for Vosol * and Vosol * HC
brands which is included in intangible assets on the balance sheet and included $1,800,000 in other expense in the statement
of operations as a result of the settlement.

From time to time, the Company becomes involved in various legal matters in addition to the above described matters that
the Company considers to be in the ordinary course of business. While the Company is not presently able to determine the
potential liability, if any, related to such matters, the Company believes none of such matters, individually or in the
aggrepate, will have a material adverse effect on its financial position.

(NOTE N) Income Taxes:

[1] The provision (benefit) for income taxes is comprised of the following:

Year Ended Apriil 30,

2007 2006 2008
Current:
FEARTAL ... eeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeessseressesssss s sssess s sessssssnssrees $  (295,000) $ 5,582,000 $ 5,931,000
SHALE oo eeesss s ss s sesessss s ssssnsrene s esnsssieae (207,000) 554,000 367,000
Deferred:
FEUCTAI 1 1vvceoe s eeeveeeeee s eseeeeseeeseeseeesseseeses oot eeeresss s sessees (1,474,000) 5,000 (1,338,000)
SHRLE 11eve v oo eeseeeeeeeeeeeeee e s sseas s st e s (22,000) 1,000 (191,000)
TOUAL ... eeesms s ee e e $  (1,998,000) § 6,142,000 $ 4,769,000




[2] Expected tax expense based on the statutory rate is reconciled with actual tax expense as follows:

Year Ended April 30,
2007 2006 2005

SHAIULOTY TALE .ttt ettt ea et e e et et et es e e e ees e eanseesesess e tenstesrrnterssneresrnas (34.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax, net of federal income tax benefit................ooovvvvvive e vevse e (6.6)% 4.2% 1.3%
Research and development tax benefit...........ccooooiiiviiicie e (6.6)% (2.1)%
IRS Section 199 18X €redil....cooooi et s — (0.9Y%
Tax EXEMPt INTEIESL c....oo ettt et se ettt ae e et eemsevnesevereon (9.8)% (1.4)%
Share-based compensation expense from incentive stock options as a result of SFAS

F23R ettt et et b e s st er et bas s ee st en e en et eseeneee 25.6% — —
Effect of a change in state X TALE ...t 5.4% — —
Adjustment to reconcile book and tax basis of assets......c.occoiiiiiiec (17.7)% — —
NYS investment taX CTEIl......c....orvevriveteienenterneteeseseeresssesessseesssesesssssseensssesasessasasens {5.6)% — —
ORET ..ttt et ae ettt ed et e b et en bt e e bt e sa ARt e e Rt e nnr s (0.2)% 0.7% 0.2%
EfTECHVE 18X TAIE 1.oeoerc ettt ettt bt aseannnannes (49.5)% 34.9% 36.5%

The Company included in the tax benefit for the year ended April 30, 2007, the adjustment to reconcile differcnces in
the book and tax basis relating to fixed assets and the IRS section 263 A adjustment.

For the years ended April 30, 2007, April 30, 2006, and April 30, 2005, the Company’s state effective tax rate was
reduced due to the utilization of state investment tax credits and change in New York law. Future state income tax rates
may be affected by the availability of state investment tax credits.

|3] Deferred tax assets and liabilities are composed of the following:

April 30,
2007 2006
Current deferred tax assets:
Allowances and write-offs not currently deductible for accounts
receivable and doubtful accounts ..., $ 2,656,000 § 2,224,000
Expenses not currently deductible........c..cccooiiiiiicnicni e 570,000 492,000
3,226,000 2,716,000
Non-current deferred tax liability:
Depreciation, amortization and unrealized gain on investments ................ $  (3,254,000) $  (1,966,000)

(NOTE O) Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk:

For the year ended April 30, 2007, two customers accounted for net sales of approximately 15% and 10%, respectively.
These customers represented approximately 44% of the accounts receivable at April 30, 2007. For the year ended April 30,
2006, two customers accounted for approximately 17% and 12% of net sales and approximately 43% of the accounts
receivable at April 30, 2006. For the year ended April 30, 2005 two customers accounted for approximately 14% and 11% of
net sales.

Cash in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Company limitations 1s held in certain banks.

(NOTE P) Savings Plan:_

The Company has a defined contribution plan that qualifies under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code for the
benefit of substantially all full time eligible employees, Employees may contribute between 1% and 15% of their salary up to
the dollar maximum allowed by the Internal Revenue Service. Company contributions are voluntary and are made at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. The Company contributed $240,000, $206,000 and $176,000, for fiscal years 2007,
2006, and 2005, respectively.
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(Note Q) Quarterly Financial Results (unaudited):

Quarter
1 2 3 4 Year

Fiscal 2007

Net Sales ... $ 11,318,000 $ 16,261,000 $ 17985000 § 13,334,000 5 58,898,000

Gross profit .....ococevvveccnennrerinerenncns £ 4,157,000 § 7,178,000 § 8471,000 § 3388000 § 23,194,000

Net income {1088) ....cccovrverrrirircrinencnn. $ (959,000) $ 409,000 $ 726,000 § (2,212,000} § (2,036,000)

Earnings (loss) per share—Basic $ (0.08) $ 0.03 $ 0.06 $ (0.19) § (0.17}

Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted ..... § (0.08) & 003 § 006 § (0.19) % (0.17)
Fiscal 2006

Net S21E5 oo $ 15427000 $ 21,619,000 § 22,897,000 $ 18,077,000 § 78,020,000

Gross profit ... e $ 8217.000 $ 11,631,000 $ 13,567,000 $ 8832000 § 42,187,000

NEUINCOME ....ovevrvererinnrerenreresesrerrnnerens $ 1,406,000 $ 3,065000 $ 4,897,000 S 2085000 $ 11,453,000

Earnings per share—Basic............... $ 012 § 026 § 041 § 0.17 % 0.96

Earnings per share—Diluted............... 3 011 § 023 § 036 % 0.15 3§ 0.85
Fiscal 2005

Net Sa1ES .o $ 12,140,000 § 16,734,000 $ 21,169,000 $ 17,640,000 $ 67,683,000

Gross Profit ... e ccecoeccneeeeens $ 6215000 § 9,387,000 § 11,648,000 § 9,073,000 § 36,323,000

Net INCOME ..o h 869,000 $ 2,318,000 § 3223000 $ 1,878,000 $ 8,288,000

Earnings per share—Basic .........c..c..... 5 008 % 0.19 § 027 § 0.16 $ 0.70

Earnings per share—Diluted............... 3 0.07 §$ 017 § 0.25 % 015 3% 0.64

Earnings {loss) per common share amounts for fiscal quarters have been calculated independently and may not in the
aggregate cqual the amount for the full year.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON SCHEDULE 11

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements of Hi-Tech Pharmacal
Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2007 and 2006 and for each of the three years in the period ended April 30, 2007 taken as a whole.
The information included on Schedule 11 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the
basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic
financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements
taken as a whole.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 9, 2007




SCHEDULE 11

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CQ., INC.
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Balance at Charges
Beginning of in costs and Balance at
Description Period expenses Deductions End of Period

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Year ended April 30, 2007 ..o, ) 350,000 $ 69,000(a) $ 69,000(b) $ 350,000

Year ended April 30,2006 .........cccomiiiniiaieieinnn 3 350,000 3 350,000

Year ended April 30, 2005 ... 3 275,000 $ 188,000(2) $ 113,000(b) $ 350,000
Accumulated depreciation

Year ended April 30, 2007 ..o $ 16417,000 $ 1,988,000 $ 18,405,000

Year ended April 30,2006 ... $ 14,607,000 $ 1,957,000 $ 147,000(c) $ 16,417,000

Year ended April 30, 2005 ..o $ 12,850,000 § 1,757,000 $ 14,607,000

(a} Change in reserve required
{b)  Direct write-off of receivable
(c) Disposition of equipment or retirements

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

NONE
ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the Company’s filings with the SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time period
specificd in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including the Company’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEC™) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), as appropriate, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure based on the definition of “disclosure centrols and procedures” as defined in
Rule 13a-15(¢) and Rule 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange
Act”). In designing and evaluating disclosure controls and procedures, the Company has recognized that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and management is required to apply judgment in evaluating its controls and procedures.

The evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of Company management, including its CEO
and CFO, to assess the effectiveness of the design and operation of its disclosure controls and procedures (as defined under
the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, the Company’s management, including its CEO and CFO, concluded that the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of April 30, 2007 because of material weaknesses in its
internal controls over financial reporting.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contro! over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial
reporting is designed, under the supervision of the Company’s CEQ and CFO, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S.
GAAP. The Company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that; (a) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of its assets;
(b) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with GAAP, and that the Company receipts and expenditures are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (c) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of its assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations, Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

The Company assessed the effectiveness of its internal controls over financial reporting as of April 30, 2007. The Company
based the evaluation on the framework in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
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Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). After the Company filed its Form 10-Q for the period ended Janurary
31, 2007, the Company determined that errors resulted from material weaknesses in the Company’s intermal controls over
financial reporting. The Company’s management has concluded that the Company did not maintain effective internal controls
over financial reporting as of April 30, 2007.

A material weakness is defined as a significant deficiency or a combination of significant deficiencies that results in more
than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of its annual or interim financial statements would not be prevented or
detected by company personnel in the normal course of performing their assigned functions. The material weakness
identified is insufficient resources in the accounting and finance organizations to ensure appropriate application of GAAP in
the area of accounting for certain of the Company’s non-routine transactions, This material weaknesses resulted in the
restatement outlined in the explanatory note to the Form 10-Q/A for the period ended Janurary 31, 2007, and the notes to the
condensed financial statements.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no significant changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reponting during the quarter of the year
ended April 30, 2007,

Remediation of Material Weaknesses

The Company has implemented, or plans to implement, certain measures to remediate the identified material weaknesses and
to enhance the Company’s internal control over its quarterly and year-end financial reporting processes. As of the date of the
filing of this Form 10-K, the Company plans to implement the following measures:

. Increase the size, expertise and training of the finance and accounting staff to include adequate resources for ensuring
GAAP compliance in the area of accounting for certain of the Company’s non-routine transactions.

The Company anticipates that this remediation action will represent ongoing improvement measures. Furthermore, while the
Company has taken steps to remediate the material weakness additional measures may be required. The effectiveness of its
remediation efforts will not be known until the Company can test those controls in connection with the management tests of
internal controis over financial reporting that the Company will perform as of April 30, 2008,

Eisner LLP, the Company’s auditor, has audited the Company’s financial statements included in this report on Form 10-K
and issued its report on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting as of April 30, 2007, which is included herein.

The financial statements and internal control over financial reporting have been audited by Eisner LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm. Their responsibility is 1o examine our financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) and evaluate management’s
assessment and evidence about whether internal control over financial reporting was designed and is operating effectively.
Eisner’s autestation with respect to the fairness of presentation of the statements, management’s assessment, and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting are included in our annual report. Eisner LLP reports directly to the
audit committee of the board of directors.

Our audit committee is comprised of three non-employee members of the board of directors, all of whom are independent
from our Company. The committee charter, which was attached to the Company’s proxy statement dated October 6, 2004,
outlines the members’ roles and responsibilities and is consistent with the recently enacted corporate reform laws and
regulations. It is the audit committee’s responsibility to appeint an independent registered public accounting firm subject to
sharcholder ratification, approve both audit and non-audit services performed by the independent registered public accounting
firm, and review the reports submitted by the firm. The audit committee meets several times during the year with
management, and the independent public accounting firm to discuss audit activities, internal controls, and financial reporting
matters, including reviews of our externally published financial results. The independent registered public accounting firm
has full and free access to the committee.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting, that Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company”) did not maintain effective internal control over
financial reporting as of April 30, 2007, because of the effect of a material weakness identified in management’s assessiment,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”). The Company's management is responsible. for maintaining effective internal
control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the Untied States of America. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the Untied States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, of disposition of the Company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal contro! over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
becausc of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that results in more than a remote
likelihood that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected. The
following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment. At April 30, 2007, the Company
did not maintain effective conirol over the application of accounting principles generally accepted in the Untied States of
America for certain non-routine transactions. This deficiency resulted in the restatement of the Company’s Form 10-Q for the
period ended January 31, 2007 relating to its investment in Neuro-Hitech, Inc. At January 31, 2007, the investment was
considered to be an investment in a non-affiliated entity and available for sale within one year of the balance sheet date under
the Securitics Exchange Commissions rules and therefore should have been valued at fair value. Such restatement resulted in
an increase in the value of the investment by $6,787,000, increased deferred tax liability by $2,703,000 and increased
accumulated other comprehensive income by $4,084,000. This control deficiency resulted in more then a remote likelihood
that 2 material misstatement of the interim and annual financial statements would not have been prevented or detected. This
material weakness was considered in determining the nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the
financial statements as of and for the year ended April 30, 2007 and this report does not affect our report dated July 9, 2007
on those financial statements.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company did not maintain effective internal control over financial
reporting as of April 30, 2007, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion,
because of the effect of the material weakness described above on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria,
the Company has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of April 30, 2007, based on criteria
established in [nternal Control Integrated Framework issued by COSO.

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States),
the balance sheets of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. as of April 30, 2007 and 2006 and the related statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the three years in the period ended April 30, 2007 and our report dated July 9, 2007,
expressed an unqualified opinien on those financial statements.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 9, 2007
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PART I

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

The board has appointed an audit committee consisting entircly of independent directors in accordance with applicable SEC
and NASDAQ rules. The members of the committee are Robert M. Holster, Dr. Yashar Hirshaut, and Anthony J. Puglisi. The
board has determined that Anthony Puglisi (chairman) is the audit commitiee financial expert as defined in the SEC rules.

The Board of Directors consisted of seven members including the Chairman Emeritus who is a non-voting attendee. All
Directors are elected at each Annual Meeting of Shareholders and hold office until the next Annual Meeting of Shareholders
when their respective successers are duly elected and qualified.

Set forth below is the name and age of each Director, his position with the Company and his principal occupation during the
past five years and the year in which each Director was first elected as a Director of the Company.

Elected to
Name of Director  Principal Occupation and other Directorships Age the Board

Bernard Seltzer Bernard Seltzer has been Chairman Emeritus of the Company since September 2004. As of May 1, 83 1983
1998 Mr. Seltzer resigned as President and Chief Exccutive Officer of the Company. From May
1983 to fanuary 1990, Mr. Seltzer was Vice President of Sales of the Company. Prior thereto, Mr.
Seltzer was the Vice President of Sales and Marketing of Ketchum Laboratories, Inc., a
pharmaceutical manufacturer and the predecessor of the Company. Mr. Bernard Selizer passed
away in May 2007.

David S. Seltzer David S. Seltzer has been Chairman of the Board since September 2004 and Chief Executive 47 1992
Officer and President of the Company since May 1, 1998 and a Director, Secrctary and Treasurcr
since February 1992. From July 1992 to May 1, 1998 Mr. Seltzer was Exccutive Vice President -
Administration and since July 1992, Vice President — Administration and Chief Operating Officer
of the Company since March 1992, Mr. Seltzer received a B.A. in Economics from Queens College
in 1984, David S. Seltzer is the son of Bernard Seltzer.

Reuben Seltzer Reuben Seltzer has been a Director of the Company since April 1992, Mr. Sclizer is currently 51 1992
serving as a consultant to the Company on legal matters and special projects. Mr. Scltzer is the
President, Chicf Exccutive Officer, and a Director of Neuro-HiTech Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug
development company engaged in the development and commercialization of Huperzine A and its
analogucs since February 2006. Mr. Seltzer had been president of R.M. Realty Services Inc., a real
estate investment and consulting company from May 1988 to September 1992. From May 1983 to
May 1988 Mr. Seltzer was a vice president and attorney with Metrill Lynch Hubbard Inc., a real
estate investment subsidiary of Merrill Lynch and Company. Mr. Seltzer received a B.A. in
Economics from Queens College in 1978, a Juris Doctor from the Benjamin N. Cardozo School of
Law in 1981 and a L.L.M. from the New York University School of Law in 1987, Reuben Seltzer
is the son of Bernard Seltzer.

Martin M. Goldwyn Martin M. Geoldwyn was elected a Director of the Company in May 1992. Mr. Goldwyn is a 55 1992
member in the law firm of Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. Mr. Goldwyn received a
B.A. in finance from New York University in 1974 and a Juris Doctor from New York Law School
in 1977.

Yashar Hirshaut, Yashar Hirshaut has been a Director of the Company since September 1992, Dr. Hirshaut is a 69 1992
M.D. practicing medical oncologist and is currently an Associate Clinical Professor of Medicine at

Cornell University Medical College. Since July 1986, he has been a Research Professor of Biology

at Yeshiva University. In addition, he has served as editor-in-chief of the Professional Journal of

Cancer Investigation since July 1981. Dr. Hirshaut received a B.A. from Yeshiva University in

1959 and his medical degrec from Albert Einstein College of Medicine in 1963.

Robert M. Holster  Robert M, Holster was elected a Director of the Company in April, 2002, Mr, Holster is Chief 60 2002

Executive Officer of HMS Holding Corp. (NASDAQ: HMSY), a company providing information
based revenue enhancement services to healthcare providers
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Anthony J. Puglisi

Bruce W. Simpson

and payors. From 1993 to 1998 Mr. Holster was President and Chief Executive Officer of HHL
Financial Services Inc., a healthcare accounts receivable management company. Prior to that Mr.
Holster served in a number of executive positions, including Chief Financial Officer of Macmillan, Inc.
and Controller of Pfizer Laboratories, a division of Pfizer, Inc. Mr. Holster is also a director of Varsity
Group, Inc, (NASDAQ: VSTY).

Anthony J. Puglisi was elected a Director of the Company on September 21, 2005. Mr. Puglisi is Vice 58
President and Chief Financial Officer of Sbarro, Inc., an ownet, operator and franchisor of quick-service
restaurants, since February 2004. Prior to joining Sbarro, Mr. Puglisi was the Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Langer, Inc., a provider of products used to treat muscle-skeletal disorders, from

April 2002 10 February 2004. Mr. Puglisi was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of

Netrex Corporation from September 2000 to October 2001 and Executive Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer of Olsten Corporation, a provider of staffing and home health care services from 1993

to March 2000. Mr. Puglisi has been a cerlified public accountant in New York for over twenty-five

years. He earned a B.B.A. in Accounting from Bernard Baruch College.

Bruce W. Simpson was elected Director of the Company on September 9, 2005. Mr. Simpson is 65
President and CEO of B.W. Simpson & Associates, a consulting company that works with small
emerging pharmaceuticals companies in the areas of marketing, business development and strategic
planning. Mr. Simpson is a consultant to the Company. Prior to founding his own healthcare-consulting
firm in 1998, from July 1998 to August 1999, Mr. Simpson was President of Genpharm, Inc., located in
Ontario, Canada, a division of E. Merck, From 1992 to July 1998, he served as President and CEO of
Medeva Pharmaceuticals in Rochester, New York. He has been affiliated with American Academy of
Allergy and currently is a Director of Draxis Health Inc. and Radial Pharmaceuticals Co. Mr. Simpson
holds a B.S. in Marketing from Fairleigh Dickinson University, an M.B.A. in Marketing from the
University of Hartford, and has done post-graduate work in healthcare marketing at UCLA. Prior to
entering the pharmaceutical field, Mr. Simpson served as a Captain in the United States Marine Corps.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company are set forth in the table below. All executive officers are elected at the annual
meeting or interim meetings of the Board of Directors. No arrangements or understanding exists between any executive
officer and any other person pursuant to which he was elected as an executive officer.

Name

Age Position and Period Served

2004

2004

David S. Seltzer

William Peters
Significant Employees

Name

47 Chairman of the Board since September 2004, Chief Executive Officer and President of the Company
since May 1, 1998 and a Director, Secretary and Treasurer since February 1992. Mr. Seltzer served as
Executive Vice President of Administration until February 1992.

39 Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since May 2004,

Age Position and Period Served

Tanya Akimova, Ph.D.

Gary M. April

Edwin A. Berrios
Joanne Curri

Polireddy Dondeti, Ph.D.

53 Director of New Business Development since October 2000,

50 President of Health Care Products Division since May 1998 and Divisienal Vice President of Sales since
January 1993.

54 Vice President of Sales and Marketing since November 2000,
66 Director of Regulatory Affairs since January 1992.

42 Senior Director of Research and Development since October 2003,

Jesse Kirsh 48 Senior Director of Quality Assurance since March 1994
Christopher LoSardo 41 Vice President of Corporate Development since October 2005,
Pudpong Poolsuk 63 Senior Directer of Science since May 2000.

Margaret Santorufo

James P. Tracy

41 Vice President and Controller since May 2004,

63 Vice President of Information Systems since August 2004,
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Audit Committee

We have a separately-designated standing Audit Committee established in accordance with Section 3(a)}(58)(A) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”™). The members of the Audit Committee are Robert M.
Holster, Yashar Hirshaut M.D., and Anthony J. Puglisi, and each member is independent as such term is defined under the
rules promulgated by the National Association of Securities Dealers” listing standards.

Audit Committee Financial Expert

The Board of Directors of the Company has determined that Anthony Puglisi is an audit committee financial expert as
defined by Item 401(h) of Regulation S-K of the Exchange Act and is independent within the meaning of Item 7(d)(3)(iv) of
Schedule 14A of the Exchange Act.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer,
controlier, persons performing similar functions, as well as directors and employees. We will provide a copy of our Code of

Ethics (“Code™) to any person, without charge, upon request to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., Attention: Investors Relations,

369 Bayview Avenue, Amityville, NY 11701, (631) 789-8228. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code or grant
any waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code to our principal executive officer, principal financial
officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature of such
amendment or waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K in accordance with applicable rules and regulations, A copy
of the Code of Ethics was filed as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Farm 10-K for fiscal year ended April 20, 2006.

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires the Company’s Directors and Executive Officers and persons
who own more than ten percent of a registered class of the Company’s equity securities to file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission initial reports of ownership and reports of changes in ownership of Common Stock and other equity
securities of the Company. Officers, Directors and greater than ten percent shareholders are required by Securities and
Exchange Commission regulation to furnish the Company with copies of all Section 16(a) forms they file. The Company
believes that all Section 16(a} filing requirements were met during Fiscal 2007. In making this statement, the Company has
relied on the written representations of its incumbent directors and officers and copies of the reports that they have filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and Nasdaq.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides a narrative describing how compensation for our named executive
officers is established and should be read in conjunction with the compensation tables and related narrative descriptions set
forth below.

Objectives and Philosophy of Our Executive Compensation Program

Qur mission is to be a significant provider of quality products in the markets we serve. To support this and other strategic
objectives as approved by the Board of Directors and to provide adequate returns to shareholders, we must compete for,
attract, develop, motivate, and retain top quality executive talent at the corporate office and operating business units during
periods of both favorable and unfavorable business conditions.

Qur executive compensation program is a critical management tool in achieving this goal. “Pay for performance” is the
underlying philosophy for our executive compensation program. Consistent with this philosophy, the program has been
carefully conceived and is independently administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, which is
comprised entirely of non-employee directors.
The program is designed and administered to:

*  reward individual and team achievements thai contribute to the attainment of our business goals; and

+  provide a balance of total compensatien opportunities, including salary, bonus, and longer-term cash and equity
incentives, that are competitive with similarly situated companies and reflective of our performance.
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In seeking to link executive pay to corporate performance, the Compensation Committee believes that the most appropriate
measure of corporate performance is the increase in long-term shareholder value, which involves improving such quantitative
performance measures as revenue, net income, cash flow, operating margins, earnings per share, and return on shareholders’
equity. The Compensation Committee may also consider qualitative corporate and individual factors which it believes bear
on increasing our long-term value to our shareholders. These include: (i) revenue growth; (ii) increases in operating income;
(iii) the attainment of specific financial goals: (iv) the development of competitive advantages; {(v) the ability to deal
effectively with the growing complexity of our businesses; (vi) success in developing business strategies and managing costs;
(vii) execution of divestitures, acquisitions, and strategic partnerships; (viii) implementation of operating efficiencies; and
(ix) the general performance of individual job responsibilities.

Components of eur Executive Compensation Program
The primary elements of our executive compensation program are:
«  base salary;
» annual cash incentive bonus;
+  along-term incentive represented by stock options; and

«  insurance, 401(K) plan and other employee benefits.

The Company has not, prior to 2007, had a formal or informal policy or target for allocating compensation between long-
term and shori-term compensation, between cash and non-cash compensation or among different forms of non-cash
compensation. Instead, the Compensation Committee, after reviewing information provided by management determines
subjectively what it believes to be the appropriate level and mix of the various compensation COmponents.

Base Salary. Base salary is used to recognize the experience, skills, knowledge and responsibilities required of alt our
employees, including our executives. In determining the amount of compensation to be paid to our executive officers, the
Compensation Committee adheres to compensation policies pursuant to which executive compensation is determined. Base
salary determinants include the prevailing rate of compensation for positions of like responsibility in the particular
geographic area, the level of the executive’s compensation in relation to our other executives with the same, more, or less
responsibilities, and the tenure of the individual.

In the case of Mr, Bernard Selizer, Mr. David Selizer and Mr. William Peters, the minimum base salary is mandated by our
employment agreements with those executives.

Base salaries are reviewed annually or when employment contracts expire by our Compensation Committee, and are adjusted
from time to time to realign salaries with market levels after taking into account individual responsibilities, performance and
experience.

Annual Cash Incentive Bonus. The Compensation Committee has the authority to award annual bonuses 10 individual senior
executives in accordance with evaluation and performance criteria established each year, and based on the extent to which
those criteria were achieved. The committee believes that the short term bonus plan promotes the Company’s performance-
based compensation philosophy by providing executives with direct financial incentives in the form of annual cash bonuses
for achieving specific performance goals. Bonus criteria are established, and bonuses ultimately awarded, in a manner
intended to reward both overall corporate performance and an individual’s participation in attaining such performance.

In August 2006, the Compensation Committee approved the cash bonus amounts to be paid to each of the executive officers
for services performed in 2006. The bonus amounts awarded to Messrs. David Seltzer and Peters for fiscal year 2006 were
82% and 36%, respectively, of each executive officer’s 2006 base salary, or $314,000, and $75,000, respectively. The cash
bonuses awarded to the executive officers were determined based on the level of attainment of the Company’s performance
objectives during the period.

Stock Options. The long-term component of our executive compensation program consists of stock options. We believe that
equity grants provide our executives with a strong link to our long-term performance, create an ownership culture and help to
align the interest of our executives and our sharcholders. Stock options are granted upen the recommendation of management
and approval of the Compensation Committec based upon their subjective evaluation of the appropriate amount for the level
and amount of responsibility of each executive officer. Factors entering into this process include company-level performance,
the individual executive’s performance, the amount of equity previously awarded to the executive and the vesting of such
awards.
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The Compensation Committee reviews all components of the executive’s compensation when determining annual equity awards to ensure
that an executive’s total compensation conforms to our overall philosophy and objectives.

The options generally permit the option holder to buy the number of shares of the underlying Common Stock (an option exercise) at a price
equal to the market price of the Common Stock at the time of grant. Thus, the options generally gain vaiue only to the extent the stock price
exceeds the option exercise price during the term of the option. Generally, the options vest over a period of four years, with 25% vesting
upon the first anniversary of the date of grant and 25% on each anniversary thereafier, and expire no later than ten years after grant.

Equity awards are typically granted to our executives annually in conjunction with the review of their individual performance, We set the
exercise price of all stock options to equal the closing price of our Common Stock on the NASDAQ Stock Market on the day of the grant.

Benefits and Other Compensation. We maintain broad-based benefits that are provided to all employees, including health and dental
insurance, and a 401 (k) plan. Exccutive officers are eligible to participate in all of our employee benefit plans, at no cost. The Company
matches 50% on the first 6% of the contributions to the 401(k) plan for all employees.

Mr. Bernard Seltzer, Mr. David Seltzer and Mr. William Peters received $2,400, $10,400 and $6,000, respectively for automobile
reimbursements. These amounts were reporied as taxable income.

Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits. Pursuant to employment agreements we have entered into with certain of our executives and
our 1992 Stock Plan, our executives are entitled to specified benefits in the event of the termination of their employment under specified
circumstances, including termination following a change in control of our company. We have provided more detailed information about
these benefits, along with estimates of their value under various circumstances, under the caption “Potential Payments upon Termination of
Employment or Change-in-Control” below,

We believe providing these benefits help us compete for executive talent. We believe that our severance and change-in-control benefits are
generally in line with severance packages offered to executives by other companies.

Compensation of the Chief Executive Qfficer

Determination of our compensation for Davis S. Selizer, our Chief Executive Officer, takes into account the factors described above as
pertinent to the remainder of our executives and employees, while also taking into consideration the proprietary nature of our business and
efforts expended in connection with development of our business strategy and product development activities, The Compensation
Committee more specifically took into account Mr. Seltzer’s (i} success in growing revenues, (ii) success in improving operating income
compared to the prior year, {iii} achievement of certain specified financial and strategic targets, and (iv) success in leading and
strengthening the executive team and the operating management teams. The Compensation Committee also took into account the amount of
Mr. Seltzer's compensation relative to chief executive officers of comnparable companies.

Tax Considerations

Section 162(m) of the Intemnal Revenue Code prohibits us from deducting any compensation in excess of $1 million paid to certain of our
executive officers, except to the extent that such compensation is paid pursuant te a shareholder approved plan upon the attainment of
specified performance objectives. The Compensation Committee believes that tax deductibility is an imporiant factor, but not the sole
factor, to be considered in setting executive compensation policy. Accordingly, the Compensation Commiitee periodically reviews the
potential consequences of Section 162(m) and generally intends to take such reasonable steps as are required to avoid the Joss of a tax
deduction due to Section 162(m). However, the Compensation Committee may, in its judgment, authorize compensation payments that do
not comply with the exemptions in Section 162(m) when it believes that such payments are appropriate to attract and retain executive
talent.

Compensation Committee Report

The Compensation Committee has reviewd and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis with management. Based on this
review and discussion, the Compensation Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that it be included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

The Compensation Committee
Robert M. Holster

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D.

Bruce W. Simpson

Dated: July 13, 2007
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The information contained in the report above shall not be deemed 10 be “filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, not shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, except to the extent specifically incorporated by reference
therein.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

The Compensation Committee of our board of directors is currently composed of Rabert M. Holster (chair), Yashar M.
Hirshaut, M.D., and Bruce W. Simpson. None of the members of the Compensation Committee has ever been an officer or
employee of ours. None of our named executive officers serves or has served as a member of the Board of Directors or
compensation committee of any other company that had one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of
Directors or Compensation Committee.

Summary Compensation Table

The following table summarizes the compensation of the Named Executive Officers for the fiscal year end April 30,
2007. The Named Executive Officers are the Company’s Chairman Emeritus, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial
Officer.

Options 0‘:1:Lr
Salary Bonus Awards Compensation Total
Name and Principal Position Year {($)(1) ($) (#)(2) (5)(3} $)
David 8. SEHZEr .ccvvivireie e 2007 401,000 314,000 269,000 26,000 1,010,000
President, Chief Executive Officer, ....cccooovnvieeiennnnn.
Secretary, and Treasurer ...
Bemnard Seltzer......cooveoeieiivieree st 2007 285,000 — — 9,000 294,000
Chairman Emenitus (4) ..o,
WIAM PELErS .vviiieiiieeccrcineesiceecesrecne s sbarn e 2007 218,000 75,000 326,000 18,000 637,000

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer................

(1) Represents base salary through April 30, 2007.

{2) Represents the fair value of options granted on the grant date in accordance with SFAS 123(R).

(3) Represents the matching contributions to the Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Employce Savings Plan and/or the dollar
value of the premium paid by the Company for term life insurance for the benefit of the named executive officer, and
automobile reimbursement that were reported as taxable income.

(4) Bemard Seltzer served as Chairman Emeritus until his death on May 21, 2007.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

All Other Option Grant Date
Awards: Number Exercise or Fair Value
of Securities Base Price of of Stock
Underlying Option Awards and Options
Name Grant Date Options (#) (1) ($/Sh) (2) Awards (3)
David 8. SelZer oo eirre e 2/2/07 50,000 10.68 269,000
President, Chief Executive Officer, ..o,
Secretary, and TreasUTET ..o
Bernard Seltzer ......oocoiivnviervnie et g — — — —
Chairman EMETITUS .ovveceeeeeer et
WLl Peters oo o 8/9/06 25,000 15.09 191,500
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 212107 25,000 10.68 134,500
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(1)  The amounts set forth in this column reflect the number of stock options granted under our 1992 Stock Option Plan as
amended. The options vest at the rate of 25% per year starting on the first anniversary of the grant and expire in 10

years from the date of grant.

{(2) The exercise price equals the closing price of our common stock on the date of grant.

(3) The dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value computed in
accordance with SFAS 123R, except no assumptions for forfeitures were included.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying
Unexercised Unexercised
Options (#) Options {#) Option Exercise Option
Name Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) Expiration Date
David S. Seltzer......cooovooviieeieee e,
President, Chief Executive Officer, ......cooovveevoreeeeiieeeeeeen,
Secretary, and TTEASUIET ....cccoveveerrrrir s e sirane 112,500 — 5 2.33 1/15/08
112,500 —  § 1.64 4/1/09
112,500 —  § 1.78 6/1/10
112,500 — § 3.84 11/15/11
112,500 — % 11.56 1/14/13
56,250 18,750 % 14,99 12/4/13
37,500 37,500 § 12.05 2/1/15
12,500 37,500 § 2398 3/8/16
— 50,000 $ 10.68 212117
WILHAM PELErS ....oooevvrveiireeeeeeeeee et e
Vice President and..............coooeeeieciniconiiinic e
Chief Financial Officer.......ccooviiiinniiiniiie e, 9375 5,625 § 19.95 9/9/13
12,750 18,750 § 10.13 8/2/14
9,375 28,125 § 18.87 8/1/15
25,000 § 15.09 8/9/16
25000 § 10.68 212117
Bernard Seltzer ..o
Chairman EMerifus.........c.occcoveeeereiereninrrimimiessessessssnsssssesnns 56,250 — 3 11.56 1/14/13
28,125 9375 % 14.99 12/4/13
18,750 18,750 § 12.05 2/1/15

Involuntary Termination. Our employment contracts with Mr. David Seltzer and Mr. William Peters provide for severance
pay and other payout amounts in the event that employment is terminated other than for cause or voluntary termination.

Mr, David Seltzer’s employment agreement provides that in the event of a termination of employment by the Company
without cause, the Company shall pay to Mr. Seltzer his Base Salary up to the end of the month in which such termination
occurs, The employment agreement further provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will be paid
his Base Salary for the remaining term of the agreement; provided, however, that in the case of a total disability, the Base
Salary paid to Mr. Seltzer shall be reduced by any proceeds paid to Mr. Seltzer, his designee or estate, from a disability
insurance policy owned by the Company. In addition, if Mr. Seltzer is terminated by the Company without cause ot in the
event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will alse be paid an amount equal to the product of (i) the bonus for the

year in which such termination, death or total
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disability occurred and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months during such year which Mr. Seltzer
was employed by the Company through and including the month of his death, total disability or termination of employment,
and the denominator of which is twelve.

If Mr. William Peters is terminated, or if he terminates his employment for Good Reason, as defined in his employment
agreement, then the Company will pay to him the sum of (i) his salary for the greater of six (6) months or the balance of the
term of his agreement and (ii) the pro rata portion of his annual bonus for the prior year. The severance shall be payable
weekly. In addition, the Company will continue to keep in effect all health, insurance and welfare benefits for a period of the
lesser of six months from the date of termination or until Mr. Peters obtains similar benefits from a new employer. Mr. Peters
will not be entitled to severance if the Company gives six months advance written notice that a decision not to renew his
agreement has been made by the company.

Change in Control. [n the event of a change in control our employment contract with Mr. David Seltzer provides for
severance pay equal to three years of the current base salary, the bonus declared payable to him for the preceding calendar
year , the continuation of health care benefits for 24 months, the continuance of his automobile lease then in effect, but not
more than 3 years, and provide appropriate outplacement services not to exceed $15,000. The payment of the severance and
bonus shall be made as soon as practible after termination of employment, but in no event more than thirty days after
termination

Our employment contract with Mr. William Peters provides in the event of a change in control for severance pay equal to 1.5
times the current base salary which equals the sum of (i) his annual salary on the day preceding the change in control, (ii) the
annual bonus for the year immediately preceding the change in control. This amount will be made in a lump sum payment
within 15 days after the change in control, All insurance and welfare payments will also continue for the lesser of one year or
the eligibility of similar benefits from a new employer.

A “Change of Control” shall be deemed to occur upon the earliest to occur after the date of the Agreement of any of the
following events:

(a) Acquisition of Stock by Third Party. Any Person (as hereinafter defined) is or becomes the Beneficial Owner (as
hereinafier defined), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing forty (40%) percent or more of the
combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities and such Person initiates actions to cause the Company
{o enter into a transaction or series of transactions with such Person or a third party without the prior consent or request of the
Board of Directors;

{b) Change in Board of Directors. The date when Continuing Directors cease to be a majority of the Directors then in office,
it being understood that it shall not be deemed a Change in Contro! as long as the majority of the Directors were nominated
by the Continuing Dircctors;

(c) Comporate Transactions. The effective date of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other entity, and with
the power to elect at least a majority of the board of directors or other governing body of such surviving entity; and

(d) Liquidation, The approval by the shareholders of the Company of a complete liquidation of the Company or an agreement
for the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets.

Potential Payments Upon Termination of Employment or Change in Control

The following information and table set forth the amount of payments to each of our named executives in the event ofa
termination of employment as a result of involuntary termination and termination following a change in control.

Assumptions and General Principles. The following assumptions and general principles apply with respect to the following
table and any termination of employment of a named executive:

«  The amounts shown in the table assume that each named executive was terminated on April 30, 2007.
Accordingly, the table reflects amounts earned as of April 30, 2007 and includes estimates of amounts that would
be paid to the named executive upon the occurrence of a termination or change in control. The actual amounts to
be paid to a named executive can only be determined at the time of the tefmination or change in control.

+  Because we have assumed an April 30, 2007 termination date, each of the named executives would have been
entitled to receive 100% of the annual bonus payment made for fiscal year 2006 that was paid in fiscal 2007. If
termination would oceur in Fisca! 2008, the bonus amount would be the bonus amount that the Board determines
to pay out for the year ended April 30, 2007.
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* A pamed executive may exercise any stock options that are exercisable prior to the date of termination and any
payments related to these stock options are not included in the table because they are not severance payments.

David Willinm

Involuntary Termination Seltzer Peters
Prorated annual bonus COMPENSALION............ccceioiicieeiectceiet st sesn e e sssse e rsce st eaen s retans 5 314,000 $ 75,000
Cash SEVETANCE PAYIMIENL. ..o v ettt ss e s e sbaresarasnaresens 1,328,000 110,000
Continued health care benefits and Other ... ..ot — 12,000
TOMAL .o e e ettt e e b e eae e e e er e e te b e nasatans § 1,642,000 $ 197,000

Change in Control with Termination

Prorated annual bonus COMPENSALION .........cceoviciiirieieieietes i rrerersreesrssee e s seesee s e seesaees S 314,000 § 75,000
Cash SEVETANCE PAYIMENT. ..ocveiiiiiiit ettt ee s ea e srereass s bas e beseeee e ensmensenens 1,328,000 331,600
| Continued health care benefits and Other ..ot ettt 82,000 23,000
TOUAL ..ottt e e et e ae e et e bt s rnneereas $ 1,724000 § 429,000

Employment Agreements
David S. Seltzer — Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Treasurer

David S. Seltzer serves as Chairman of the Board since Bernard Seltzer retired the position in September, 2004. David S.
Seltzer was elected to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer effective May 1, 1998. On March 28, 2007, Hi-Tech
Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™) entered into an amended and restated executive employment agreement with David S.
Seltzer pursuant to which Mr. Seltzer is to serve as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective May 1, 2007 through
April 30, 2010. Mr. Seltzer is to receive an annual base salary of $421,375.50 for the period May 1, 2007 through April 30,
2008 (“Base Salary”) and for each fiscal year thereafier during the term of the employment agreement, Mr. Seltzer will be
paid a base salary equal to the sum of (a) the Base Salary for the immediately preceding fiscal year and (b) an amount
determined by multiplying the Base Salary in effect for the immediately preceding fiscal year by five (5%). Mr. Seltzer may
also receive a bonus during each year of employment which shall be determined in accordance with an Executive Bonus Plan
to be adopted by management and approved by the Company’s Compensation Committee. Such Executive Bonus Plan may
be based on the Company meeting certain fiscal goals and also taking into account, among other things, progress towards
strategic objectives not fully measured by pre-tax net income. Mr. Seltzer shall be eligible to receive options to purchase a
minimum amount of 50,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. The employment agreement provides that in the event
of a termination of Mr. Seltzer’s employment by the Company without cause, the Company shall pay to Mr. Seltzer his Base
Salary up to the end of the month in which such termination of employment occurs. The employment agreement further
provides that in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability, he will be paid his Base Salary for the remaining term of
the agreement; provided, however, that in the case of a total disability, the Base Salary paid to Mr. Seltzer shall be reduced by
any proceeds paid to Mr. Selizer, his designee or estate, from a disability insurance policy owned by the Company. In
addition, if Mr. Seltzer is terminated by the Company without cause or in the event of Mr. Seltzer’s death or total disability,
he will also be paid an amount equal to the product of (i) the bonus for the year in which such termination, death or total
disability occurred and (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months during such year which Mr, Seltzer
was employed by the Company through and including the month of his death, total disability or termination of employment,
and the denominator of which is twelve. The amended and restated employment agreement contains standard confidentiality
provisions and indemnification provisions.

Bernard Seltzer — Chairman of the Board Emeritus

Mr. Bernard Seltzer’s employment agreement provides that his annual base salary for the fiscal years beginning May 1, 2005
and ending April 30, 2008 is approximately $285,000 each year. His employment agreement expires April 30, 2008.

Mr. Bernard Selizer served as Chairman Emeritus until his death on May 21, 2007. Under the terms of Mr. Seltzer’s
employment agreement, the Company is required to pay his annual base salary afier death until the end of the term of the
agreement.
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William Peters — Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

The Company has an employment agreement with William Peters, its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer which
expires on July 31, 2007. The agreement automatically renews for successive one-year terms. Annual base salary through
July 31, 2006 is $210,000 and $220,500 through July 31, 2007. The annual base salary afier July 31, 2007 is adjusted upward
on August | of each year by the greater of 5% or the annual percentage change of the New York City Metropolitan Consumer

Price Index. The agreement provides for annual bonuses to be determined in accordance with performance goals set by the
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors and the President of the Company. The Compensation Commiltee and
the President set a target equal to or greater than 25% of Mr. Peters annual salary. The employment agreement provides for
severance payments to Mr. Peters equal to (i) the sum of his salary for the greater of 6 months or the balance of the term of
the agreement and (ii) the pro rata portion of his annual bonus for the prior year of his employment in the event of
termination. In the event of a termination upon total disability, the Company will pay to Mr. Peters the salary which would

otherwise be payable to him during the continuance of such disability. Such employment agreement contains standard

confidentiality provisions. In the event of a change in control the Company will pay or cause its successor to pay to
Mr. Peters in a cash lump sum an amount equal to 1.5 times his annual salary plus his annual bonus for the year immediately

preceding the Change of Control.

As described more fully below, this chart summarizes the annual cash compensation for the Company’s non-employee

directors during fiscal year 2007.

Director Compensation

Fees Earned Stock Option All Other
or Paid in Awards Awirds Compensation
Name Cash (5) {5) (33(1) (%) Total (5)
Martin M. GOldWYN.......cocoiiiiiccm s 8,000 -()- 85,000 93,000
Yashar Hirshattt, M.D. .ooovviiereeieeeies v tetire s reacn s 8,000 -0- 93,000 101,000
ROBEIT M. HOISIET . eerveieeee e etsesbasssseae e e e rsnneanessinnn s 8,000 -0- 93,000 101,000
ANthony PUZLISi.coooi e 8,000 -0- 85,000 93,000
Reuben Seltzer. . ... e 8,000 -0- 85,000 170,000(2) 263,000
BIUCE STMPSOMN <orvvvovveeeerrsecesssessesreseessesssesssssesssssasssssresssrsrrensssos 8,000 0- 93,000 20,0003) 121,000

(1)  Reprusents the dollar values of stock options disclosed in this column are equal to the aggregate grant date fair value
computed in accordance with SFAS 123(R), except no assumptions for forfeitures were included. A discussion of the
assumptions used in calculating the grant date fair value is set forth in Note 12 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

(2) Represents non-employee compensation received by Mr. Reuben Seltzer for new business development and legal
services.

(3) Represents non-employee compensation paid to Mr. Bruce Simpson’s consulting company for consulting services.

34



Stock Option Plans

The Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan (the “Plan™)

The Company’s Amended and Restated Stock Option Plan provides for a total of 4,857,000 shares of Common Stock
authorized to be granted under such Plan. During Fiscal 2007, the Company granted options to purchase 275,000 shares of
Common Stock at a weighted average exercise price of $11.50 per share. During Fiscal 2007, 38,000 options were cancelled
or expired, and 783,000 shares are available for future grant under such Plan. The Company’s Plan provides for the grant of
options to its key employees and directors in order to give such employees a greater personal interest in the success of the
Company and an added incentive to continue and advance in their employment. The Company’s Plan provides for a fifteen
year expiration period for non-statutory options and ten years for incentive stock options granted thereunder and allows for
the exercise of options by delivery by the optionee of previously owned Common Stock of the Company having a fair market
value equal to the option price, or by a combination of cash and Common Stock.

The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee has broad discretion in
determining the recipients of options and numerous other terms and conditions of the options.

The exercise price for shares purchased upon the exercise of non-statutory options granted under the Plan is determined by
the Compensation Committee as of the date of the grant.

The exercise price of an incentive stock option must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the
date such option is granted (I 10% of the fair market value for shareholders who, at the time the option is granted, own more
than 10% of the total combined classes of stock of the Company or any subsidiary). No employees may be granted incentive
stock options in any ycar for shares having a fair market value, determined as of the date of grant, in excess of $100,000.

No incentive option may have a term of more than ten years {in the case of incentive stock options, five years for
shareholders holding 10% or more of the Common Stock of the Company). Options generally may be exercised only if the
option holder remains continuously associated with the Company or a subsidiary from the date of grant to the date of
exercise. However, options may be exercised upon termination of employment or upon the death or disability of any
employee within certain specified periods.

Directors Plan

The Company’s 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan (*Directors Plan™) provides for a total of 600,000 shares of Common
Stock authorized to be granted under the Directors Plan,

The Directors Plan provides for the automatic annuval grant of options to non-employee directors and is administered by the
Board of Directors. Each non-employee director will be automatically granted 11,250 shares of Commeon Stock on the date of
each annual meeting of the Company’s sharcholders. A non-employee director who chairs the audit or other committees of
the Board of Directors will be automatically granted annually an option to purchase an additional 1,125 shares of Common
Stock.

To remain eligible, a non-employee director must continue to be a member of the Board of Directors. Each option granted is
exercisable in increments of 25% per year commencing on the first anniversary date of the date of grant. The exercise price
for ali options may not be less than the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant. Options under the
Directors Plan have a term of 10 years and may be exercised for limited periods after a person ceases to serve as a director.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT,

The following table identifies as of July 10, 2007 each person known to the Company to be the beneficial owner of more than
five percent of the Company’s Common Stock, each director of the Company, and all directors and executive officers of the
Company as a group, and sets forth the number of shares of the outstanding Common Stock beneficially owned by each such
person and such group and the percentage of the shares of the outstanding Common Stock owned by each such person and
such group. Except as noted below, the named person has sole voting power and sole investment power over the securities.
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Name and Address of Beneficial Owner

Amount and
Nature of
Beneficial

Ownership (1)

Percent of
Common
Stock

Betnard Seltzer
¢/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.. . . .
FE9 BBYVIEW AVEIMDE _...c.cruimiemriees e cemsemes ot seeeaees set semebeas seess semesars sssbemsbaes atsemthe st FessbatE e RO R Efot bt SeRE e b eas s Fas 40 s sas amas s ee s eas s by sk b et
Amityville, New York 1]

David 5. Seltzer.....
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co.
369 Bayview Avenue......
Amityville, New York 11701,

Reuben Seltzer......cooireiieiceirnnns
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc..
369 Bayview Avenue.....
Amityville, New York 11

Martin M. Goldwyn...

c/o Tashlik, Kreutzer, wyn
40 Cuttermill Road ...nnne
Great Neck, New York HO21 ...l

Yashar Hirshaut, M.D. ...............
¢/o Hi-Tech Phanmacal Co., Inc..
369 Bayview Avenue.....
Amityville, New York 11

Robert M. Holster..
¢/o Hi=Tech Pharmacal Co.
369 Bayview Avenue........
Amityville, New York 11701....

William Peters e
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc..
369 Bayview Avenue..... ST
Amityville, New Yark 11701 ...

Antheny J. Puglisi
c/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co.,
369 Bayview Avenue
Amityville, New York 11701 ...

Bruce W. Simpson SO VUURORIN
/o Hi-Tech Pharmacal €o., INC. ... e et rems et sessss i srssmns
369 Bayview Avenue...............
Amityville, New York 11701....

Al Directors and Executive Officers as o group (9 persons)

Wellington Management Co,, LLP,
T8 SUALL SUEE s v iussisarsanavisesnredabbn 01080804 E 4081 E 844804088048 L 481 RE 41 F 188148 10081 RE P43 9241 148 P48 PR3 208 1 ee kb s e eeb SRt bh et s e s e eh
Boston, MA 0210

Columbia Management Advisors, Inc. ..
100 Federal Street 21th Floor.
Boston, MA 02110-1898.......

Accipter Capital Management LLC...
399 Park Avenuc 38 Floor "
New York, NY 10022-81 13 ...oiiiimivoniorsrssmimsmiessssrssmmstssmmsist rossesssassesssssssens s imssessens srasenes

Royce & Associates LLC
1414 Avenue of the Americas 9™ floar.....................
New York, NY 10019-2578.........

Barclays Global Investors NA (CA) ..
45 Fremom Street....
San Francisco, CA 9
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599,522,

2,352,124,

1,131,040,

48,632

84,469

41,438 7
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* Amount represents less than 1% of Common Stock including shares issuable to such beneficial owner under options which are
presently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days,

{1}  Unless otherwise indicated, each person has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares shown as beneficially
owned by such person.

(2)  Amount does not include 135,000 shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Selizer’s wife, as to which Bernard Seltzer disclaims
beneficial ownership and includes 131,250 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 12, 2007.

(3)  Amount includes options to purchase 668,750 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007 and 349,944
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer's wife and children and a trust for the benefit of one of his children.

(4)  Amount includes options to purchase 284,625 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007 and 330,225
shares of Common Stock owned by Mr. Seltzer’s wife and children.

(5)  Amount includes options to purchase 48,632 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

(6)  Amount represents options o purchase 62,469 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007,

(7)  Amount represents options 1o purchase 41,438 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

(8)  Amount includes options to purchase 62,125 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

{9)  Amount includes options to purchase 10,313 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

(10) Amount includes options to purchase 7,124 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

{11) Amount includes options to purchasc 1,316,725 shares of Common Stock exercisable within 60 days of July 10, 2007.

(12) Source: 13F Form filings March 31, 2007

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

For the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007, Mr. Reuben Seltzer was engaged by the Company to provide new business development and legal
services. For such services, Mr. Reuben Seltzer received $178,000. Mr. Reuben Selizer is a director of the Company and the son of
Mr. Bernard Seltzer, the Company’s Chairman of the Board Emeritus and the brother of David Seltzer, the Company’s President.

The Company and Reuben Seltzer have a 17.7% and 17.7% interest, respectively, in Marco Hi-Tech JV LLC, a New York limited liability
company (“Marco Hi-Tech™), which markets raw materials for nutraceutical products. Additionally, the Company has an investment in an
available for sale security, Neuro-Hitech, Inc. of which Reuben Seltzer is the CEO. The Company has a 9% interest in Neuro-Hitech, Inc.

The Company is jointly developing a generic product outside of its area of expertise with XCell Pharmaceuticals (“XCell”) and another
company. Reuben Selizer is a principle of XCell. During the fiscal year, the Company spent approximately 3409,000 on this project, which
was included in research and development expense.

The Company believes that material affiliated transactions between the Company and its directors, officers, principal stockhotders or any
affiliates thereof have been, and will be in the future, on terms no less favorable than could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

Tashlik, Kreutzer, Goldwyn & Crandell P.C. received $217,000 in Jegal fees for services performed for the Company during the
Company’s fiscal year ended April 30, 2007. Mr. Martin M. Goldwyn, a member of such firm, is a director of the Company.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
Audit Fees

Eisner LLP has served as the auditors for the Company for the fiscal year ended April 30, 2007. Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill
us $345,000 and $320,000, in the aggregate, for professional services for the audit of our annual financial statements and audit of the
Company's internal controls in compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively, and for the review
of our interim financial statements which are included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for fiscal 2007,

Audit Related Fees

Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $21,000 and $36,000 for other audit-related fees for fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively. Other
audit-related fees related primarily 1o services rendered in connection with our filing of registration statements with the SEC and due
diligence in connection with potential acquisitions and accounting consultations.

Tax Fees

Eisner LLP has billed or is expected to bill us $36,000 and $31,000 for fiscal 2007 and 2006, respectively, for tax services including tax
compliance.
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All Other Fees

The Company did not engage Eisner LLP for professional services rendered for all services other than those services
captioned “Audit Fees”, “Audit Related Fees”, *Tax Fees” and “Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation
Fees” in fiscal 2007

All non-audit services were reviewed with the Audit Committee, which concluded that the provision of such services by
Eisner LLP was compatible with the maintenance of that firm’s independence in the conduct of its auditing function.

Financial Information Systems Design and Implementation Fees

Eisner LLP did not provide and did not biil nor was paid any fees for financial information systems design and
implementation services in fiscal 2007 and 2006 as described in paragraph (c)(4)(ii) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X.

Policy on Audit Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible Non-Audit Services of Independent Auditer

Consistent with SEC policies regarding auditor independence, the Audit Committee has responsibility for appointing, setting
compensation and overseeing the work of the independent auditor. In recognition of this responsibility, the Audit Committee
has established a policy to pre-approve all audit and permissible non-audit services provided by the independent auditor.

Prior to engagement of the independent auditor for the next year's audit, management will submit a list of services and
related fees expected to be rendered during that year within each of four categories of services to the Audit Committee for
approval.

1. Audit services include audit and review work performed on the financial statements, as well as work that generally
only the independent auditor can reasonably be expected to provide, including comfort letters, statutory audits, and
discussions surrounding the proper application of financial accounting and/or reporting standards.

2. Audit-Related services are for assurance and related services that are traditionally performed by the independent
auditor, including due diligence related to mergers and acquisitions, employee benefit plan audits, and special procedures
required to meet certain regulatory requirements.

3. Tax services include all services, except those services specifically related to the audit of the financial statements,
performed by the independent auditor’s tax personnel, including tax analysis; assisting with coordination of execution of tax
related activities, primarily in the area of corporate development; supporting other tax related regulatory requirements; and
tax compliance and reporting.

4. Other Fees are those associated with services not captured in the other categories. The Company generally does not
request such services from the independent auditor.

Prior to engagement, the Audit Committee pre-approves independent auditor services within each category. The fees are
budgeted and the Audit Committee requires the independent auditor and management to report actual fees versus the budget
periodically throughout the year by category of service. During the year, circumstances may arise when it may become
necessary to engage the independent auditor for additional services not contemplated in the original pre-approval categories.
In those instances, the Audit Committee requires specific pre-approval before engaging the independent auditor.

The Audit Committee may delegate pre-approval authority to one or more of its members. The member to whom such
authority is delegated must report, for informational purposes only, any pre-approval decisions to the Audit Committee at its
next scheduled meeting.
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ITEM 15.
(a) (1) Financial Statements filed as part of this Report are listed in Item 8 of this Report.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

{2} No other financial schedules have been included because they are not applicable, not required or because required
information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

(a) Exhibit Page Number
Number Description of Document Foat-Notes
kN | Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation (H
32 Restated Certificate of Incorporation and By-Laws 2)
43 Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Stock Option Plan 3
44  Copy of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Stock Option Agreement @
4.3 Copy of 1994 Directors Stock Option Plan (5)
10.1 Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement with David S, Seltzer 6)
10.2 Amendment No. | to Amended and Restated Executive Employment Agreement of David Seltzer &)
10.3 Employment Agreement of William Peters (8)
10.4 Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement, dated October 23, 2002. Cenfidential Treatment was
granted for portions of this Agreement. (9
10.5 First Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated November 1, 2002,
Confidential Treatment has been requested for portions of this agreement. (10)
10.6 Second Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated November 15,
2002. Confidential Treatment was granted for portions of this agreement. ()
1.7 Third Amendment to the Revolving Credit and Term Loan Agreement dated October 21, 2005. (12)
141 Code of Ethics (13)
*23.1 Consent of Eisner LLP
*31.1 Certification pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*31.2 Certiftcation pursuant to Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
*32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S5.C. Section

1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Filed herewith
(1)  Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30,
2003 and incorporated herein by reference.
(2) Filed as Exhibit 3.0 10 Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
October 31, 1994 and incorporated herein by reference.
(3) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-47860) and
incorporated herein by reference.
(4} Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 33-47860) and
incorporated herein by reference.
(5) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q) for the quarterly period ended
October 31, 1994 and incorporated herein by reference.
(6) Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference.
{7y Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended April 30,
2006 and incorporated herein by reference.
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(8)
9
(10}
(1
(12)
(13)

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended
July 31, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Hi-Tech Pharmacat Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended
October 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.8 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended
October 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.9 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for quarterly period ended
October 31, 2002 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filed as Exhibit 10.7 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for quarterly period ended April 30,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference.

Filled as Exhibit 14,1 to Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for fiscal year ended April 30,
2007 and incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of’ Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: July 13, 2007 HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC,

By./s/ David S, Seltzer

David S. Seltzer, Chief Executive Officer, President, Secretary &
Treasurer

By.."s/ William Peters
William Peters Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ David S. Seltzer July 13, 2007

David S. Seltzer, Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive
Officer, President, Treasurer, Secretary

/s/ Reuben Seltzer July 13, 2007

Reuben Seltzer, Director

/s/ Martin M. Goldwyn July 13, 2007

Martin M. Goldwyn, Director

/s/ Yashar Hirshaut, M.DD, July 13, 2007
Yashar Hirshaut, M.D., Director

/S/ RObCﬂ M. Holsler .luly 13, 2007
Robert M. Holster, Director

/s/ Anthony J. Puglisi July 13, 2007
Anthony J. Puglisi, Director

/s/ Bruce W, Simpson July 13, 2007
Bruce W, Simpson, Director
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EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™)
on Form 8-8 (File No. 333-139796) and Form $-8 (File No. 333-126872) of our reports, dated July 9, 2007, with respect to
our audits of the financial statements of the Company as of April 30, 2007 and 2006 and for each of the three years in the
period ended April 30, 2007, and our report dated July 9, 2007 on our audit of management’s assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting which expressed an unqualified opinion, and adverse opinion on the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting because of the existence of material weaknesses as of April 30, 2007, included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Eisner LLP

New York, New York
July 12, 2007




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, David S. Seltzer, certify that:
1. Ihave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-135(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
{as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b.  designed such intemnal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and [ have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitiee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 13, 2007

By: /s/ David 8. Seltzer

David S. Selizer
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OR 15D-14 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, WILLIAM PETERS, certify that:
1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc.

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect 10 the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 5d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiarics, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b.  designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such intérnal control over financial reporting to
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

¢.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.  disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of the annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a.  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of intemat control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: July 13, 2607

By:/s/ William Peters

William Peters
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

HI-TECH PHARMACAL CO., INC.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U. S. C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the undersigned
officers of Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. (the “Company™), hereby certify to such officers’ knowledge, that the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended April 30, 2007 (the “Report™) fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Repart
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: July 13, 2007

/s/ David Seltzer

David Seltzer,
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ William Peters

William Peters,
Chief Financial Officer

This certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.




COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Pharmaceutical Index

——H— Hi-Tech Pharmacal Co., Inc. — x— —NASDAQ Composite

* $100 invested on 4/30/02 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending April 30.
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